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Thursday, March 12, 2015
--- On commencing at 9:36 a.m.

MS. FRY:  Good morning, please be seated.

The Ontario Energy Board is sitting today to consider an application by Canadian Niagara Power Inc. for approval of electricity transmission rates for 2015 and 2016.  This application has Board file number EB-2014-0204.

My name is Ellen Fry.  I will be presiding.  In this hearing with my is my colleague Marika Hare.

May I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. TAYLOR:  Hello, my name Andrew Taylor.  I am co-counsel for Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Hi.  Good morning.  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the applicant.

MR. BARBER:  Good morning.  Rod Barber, regulatory analyst, Canadian Niagara Power.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Ms. Hare.  Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.

With me at the table today are Mr. Battista, Mr. Bishop, and Ms. Kwan.

MS. FRY:  Thank you very much, counsel.

Are there any preliminary issues, counsel?

MR. TAYLOR:  Why don't we introduce the panel as well.

MS. FRY:  We will get there.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MS. FRY:  But before we introduce the panel and have them sworn in, do you have any preliminary issues?

MR. TAYLOR:  No, I don't.

MS. FRY:  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  No.

MS. FRY:  Okay, so why don't you introduce the panel briefly, and then we will swear them in and we will go into direct.

MR. LAVOIE:  Good morning.  Tim Lavoie.  I am regional manager for Algoma Power.  I am here assisting Canadian Niagara Power with this application on specific issues.

MR. KING:  Glenn King, CFO, Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. BRADBURY:  Doug Bradbury, director of regulatory affairs, Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. HAN:  Jie Han, VP operations, Canadian Niagara Power.

MR. KILFOIL:  Kevin Kilfoil, manager of technical services, Canadian Niagara Power.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.  Okay.  I think we are ready to swear in the witnesses.
CANADIAN NIAGARA POWER INC. - PANEL 1


Tim Lavoie, Affirmed.

Glenn King, Affirmed.

Doug Bradbury, Affirmed.

Jie Han, Affirmed.

Kevin Kilfoil, Affirmed.

MS. FRY:  Mr. Taylor, direct examination?

MR. TAYLOR:  I believe that the panel is going to enter some evidence.
Presentation by Mr. Bradbury:


MR. BRADBURY:  Good morning.  I just want to give a brief overview of our transmission system and our transmission business so that we -- to bring some context to the rest of the morning.

So CNPI originally rate-based its transmission business in 2001, and it was RP-2001-0034, EB-2001-0377, and that was done in preparation for the market opening in May 1st, 2002.

At that time, CNPI's transmission system was comprised of both 25-cycle and 60-cycle assets, as the Ontario 25-cycle transmission and generation systems were still functional and providing electricity service to customers both domestically and internationally.

To meet the market commitment of the 25-cycle transmission system, CNPI Tx owned, operated, and maintained a 25-cycle transmission system between Niagara Falls, Ontario and New York State and interconnected with the Hydro One 25-cycle transmission system.

The international power line, which was permitted by the National Energy Board, formed part of that 25-cycle transmission system.

CNPI's transmission system is primarily made up of a 115 kV interconnection with Hydro One at the Murray TS in Niagara Falls, Ontario via double-circuit lattice-tower transmission tower connecting CNPI's Station 11 in Niagara Falls, Ontario.

A mono-pole 115 kV single-circuit transmission line extends radially from Station 11 in Niagara Falls, Ontario to Stations 17 and 18 in Fort Erie, Ontario.  Station 17 is a single-element transmission station located in Stevensville, a community which forms part of Fort Erie and is within the service territory of the distribution company. Station 18 in 2001 was a single-element transmission station in Fort Erie proper.  In 2013 Station 18 was expanded to a dual-element transmission station.

At Station 18, both the 115 kV 60-cycle and the 41.6 kV 25-cycle circuits from Niagara Falls merged together and continue on to the international boundary at the Niagara River in Fort Erie.  This section of line was constructed to a 115 kV standard in 1997.  It is a double-circuit line.  One circuit is the 41.6 kV 25-cycle transmission system interconnecting with New York State and the other circuit enables the 60-cycle 115 kV international power line operating under National Energy Board permit with National Grid in New York State.

The 115 kV interconnection with New York is a non-synchronous normally open break-before-make system.  That essentially means it's not interconnected with Ontario and in order to connect it CNPI transmission has to be disconnected physically from the Ontario system.

This section of transmission line extends from Station 18 in Fort Erie to the Bertie Hill Tower near the banks of the Niagara River, which is a full-tension dead-end structure which enables the span across the Niagara River.

The final section of the transmission system is the international power line, which extends two spans from the Bertie Hill Tower to National Grid's Terminal House B in New York State.

There are two circuits crossing the river, the 25-cycle transmission circuit and the 115 kV circuit.  The two spans between the Bertie Hill Tower and Terminal House B were removed in 2014 along with the tangent structure on the Canadian side of the border, the Queen Street Tower, and the dead-end structure on the New York side of the border located at Terminal House B.

CNPI Tx owned and operated and maintained the transmission system in its original configuration until April 2009.  April 2009 marked the formal sunset of the 25-cycle system for CNPI.

Over the period of 2001 to 2009 there was limited capital investment required to maintain the system.  During the latter part of the period CNPIX did have limited discussions with Board Staff related to rebasing its transmission business.  This occurred following the province's freezes on electricity of rate applications which occurred in 2002.

Following the first application, which I -- from my memory was Hydro One's rebasing of their transmission system, Canadian Niagara Power was required to sign off on the UTR calculation, as it is each time a transmitter rebases.

However, circumstances at the time were such that the Board's agenda was felt to be full, and CNPI's materiality did not warrant an application and one was not filed.

In October 2013, CNPI Tx received an engagement letter from the Board's audit and performance assessment team, and an audit of CNPI Tx took place between January and March of 2014.  On May 29th, 2014, the Board directed CNPI to file a cost-of-service application, and that is this application we are working on currently.

As discussed in Exhibit 10 of the application, in August 2013 CNPI Tx initiated Project Fortran, a $30 million project that, if completed, would have realized a synchronous intertie between Ontario and the New York transmission at Fort Erie.  I'm sorry, August 2003.

On July 16th, 2009, CNPI Tx submitted a leave to construct application for project Fortran.  And on March 29th, 2010 the Board issued its decision for project Fortran, in which the project was denied.

A successful leave to construct application would have inevitably prompted an immediate cost of service review for CNPI Tx.  With the dismissal of project Fortran, which would have included the rebuild of the international power line, CNPI Tx had to develop a sustainment plan for the international power line.  This is detailed in Exhibit 11 of the application.

In 2010 a structural inspection was completed by MEDA Engineering and a visual inspection indicated several areas of the Queen Street Tower that were corroded and foundations were deteriorating.  The results of the structural analysis determined that most of the diagonal members were overstressed.

In October 2011, CNPI Tx engaged Trade Mark Industrial to perform a detailed inspection of the working platform of the Queen Street Tower.  During this inspection, egress to the working platform and a safe working zone on a platform were established.  A number of loose planks were removed and a number of deficiencies identified.

In March 2012 a number of planks were blown off the working platform during a strong windstorm, which required Queen Street and Niagara Boulevard to be closed during the storm to protect public safety.

In May 2012 all of the planks on the working platform of the Queen Street Tower were replaced by Trade Mark Industrial.

In March 2013 the CNPI decided to formally put the IPL, international power line, into a forced outage status and notified the IESO.  In consultation with National Grid, CNPI Tx developed alternatives to address the international power line.

As outlined in Exhibit 11, schedule A, prior to proceeding with removal and replacement of the international power line, CNPI Tx applied for and received approval from the National Energy Board.  The timing of the board's directive to file a cost of service application was such that CNPI Tx had to file the application coincidently with the execution of the international power line rebuild project.

Development of this project predated the board's directive, and the directive advanced CNPI's Tx schedule to file a cost of service application.

Thank you.

MS. FRY:  Is that the end of your direct?

MR. TAYLOR:  That is.  We are ready for cross-examination.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Now, you distributed a piece of paper here.  Do you want this entered as an exhibit?

MR. TAYLOR:  Sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, Madam Chair, I believe it is somewhere in the prefiled, but for nothing other than identify, I --


MS. FRY:  Yes, let's identify it.  And perhaps Mr. Taylor can describe it.

MR. MILLAR:  It will be Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  MAP OF TRANSMISSION SYSTEM.

MR. MILLAR:  And Mr. Taylor?

MR. TAYLOR:  This is a map of the transmission system.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So that's Exhibit K1.1.

Okay.  Before we start into the cross-examination, gentlemen, you have described what your positions are with the companies that you work for, but perhaps since there are five of you, you could just outline -- in relation to today's application, generally, very generally -- sort of what your area of expertise is, starting with you, Mr. Lavoie.

MR. LAVOIE:  Yes, thank you.  I am supporting the application in the area of project Fortran.

MR. KING:  Dealing with issues relating to finance accounting, regulatory accounting.

MR. BRADBURY:  My work is primarily associated with the load forecasting and the development of the uniform transmission rates, and I provide overall support in all aspects of the application.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.

MR. HAN:  My role is in charge of operations, including engineering and operation.

MR. KILFOIL:  My role is to support Jie as the manager of technical services in what he does.

MS. FRY:  All right.  Mr. Millar?
Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  And good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.

I wanted to start us off –- I'm not sure it's a high note or a low note –- with a few questions on some accounting issues.

And you will recall that we have actually already gone over much of this ground, so I think I will be fairly brief.  There were just a couple of follow-up questions I had.  We may or may not be making argument based on some things that we already have on the record for the tech conference or interrogatories.

But for the purposes of today I just wanted to go over one matter briefly, and this related to the HST.

And I -- just to sort of frame the issue and to remind people what we are talking about, when there was the switch-over or the harmonization or whatever you want to call it from the PST to the Harmonized Sales Tax, that resulted in certain tax savings; is that fair to say?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And what year did that happen?

MR. KING:  2010, I believe it was.

MR. MILLAR:  And we already asked you some questions about this, but just to confirm, the savings that CNPI realized, you haven't recorded those anywhere or in any fashion; is that fair to say?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We provided yesterday morning a copy of a letter to your counsel.  It was letter from the Minister, Mr. Duguid, at the time, to our Chair at the time, Mr. Wetston.  Have you seen that letter?

MR. KING:  I have.

MR. MILLAR:  I have some copies here and I propose to introduce it as an exhibit.  And Mr. Battista can bring copies up.

MS. FRY:  Yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  This will be Exhibit K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  LETTER FROM MINISTER DUGUID TO HOWARD WETSTON, DATED JUNE 29, 2010.

MR. MILLAR:  And it is a letter from Mr. Duguid to then-Chair Howard Wetston, dated, it looks like, June 29th, 2010.

And it is a short letter, but it deals with this issue that we are discussing.  You will see in the last paragraph, Mr. Duguid states:

"While recognizing that rates are set by the Board through an adjudicative process, I am seeking your confirmation that this process gives due regard to the impact of tax changes like the Harmonized Sales Tax for the benefit of consumers."

And my first question to you is:  Were you aware of this letter before we provided it to you yesterday?

MR. KING:  I don't recollect seeing it.  I could have received it, but I don't recollect seeing it.

MR. MILLAR:  I don't know either.  It is to the Board, of course, but I didn't know if you were aware of it before yesterday.

MR. KING:  I can't recollect.

MR. MILLAR:  Anyone else on the panel?

I am seeing heads shaking, so I will take that as a no.

Certain other transmitters did chose to record their HST savings through account 1592.  In particular Hydro One and GLP Transmission, both of those chose to do so.  And then I guess that amounted -- that resulted in a refund of some amount to customers.

And CNPI did not do that.  I am wondering if you can just provide some -- an explanation as to why CNPI didn't follow that course.

MR. KING:  Well, I guess to change my hats for a second here, I also work at CNPI in distribution and Algoma in distribution.  And in those particular cases we did set up those deferral accounts as requested by the Board and directed by the Board.

To put my transmitter hat back on -- and I hate to jump back and forth -- I don't believe we were directed to do so and I don't know if we even had authority to set up a deferral account as such.

So we didn't -- we didn't necessarily do -- and that is why we didn't.  The other aspect of it is -- I don't -- quite frankly the amount is probably not material in CNPI as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have any guesstimate as to what the amount would be?  This was asked in the technical conference.

MR. KING:  This is a guesstimate.  I would say it would be $10,000 or less.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, I recognize this would be a back of the envelope calculation, but I assume you did something to come up with that $10,000?

MR. KING:  Yes.  So we had someone look at what we did for CNPI Dx and sort of mimic it for CNPI Transmission and say:  Okay, this is the methodology we used.  This is the OPEX.  Knowing that the majority of the OPEX is labour -- no HST -- we didn't spend much CAPEX and we sort of said:  Okay.  How would the number work out to be?  And we rolled it out.

So I think the number he came up with was less than 5,000, but it was, I will say, less than 10,000 for -- and that was the total number, the give-back number, the 50 percent that would go back to the customer.

MR. MILLAR:  And did you have any documentation of that?  I am not trying to go fishing here.  I think if the number is around $10,000, that's probably the end of it.  And if something was prepared in that regard and you can provide that, that would be helpful.

MR. KING:  I have something, but it is not something I would hand in until we went through a little more.

But if you want me to undertake and give you a little bit of documentation on that, I could do that.

MR. MILLAR:  I would like to ask you to do that, only if -- I don't want you to go to a lot of trouble, but if it is something you have already sort of done, we would like to see it.

MR. KING:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is J1.1, and it's to provide a rough estimate of the savings that you realized through the HST; is that right?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE A ROUGH ESTIMATE OF THE SAVINGS REALIZED THROUGH THE HST.

MS. HARE:  Can I just ask for different clarification, though.  When you say "less than $10,000", you are talking total from 2010, not per year; is that correct?

MR. KING:  Yes, from 2010 to 2014 I believe the calculation is for.

MS. HARE:  And can you explain to me what you said by the 50 percent?  So 10,000 is the total, 50 percent being then 5,000, or you are saying the 50 percent is 10?

MR. KING:  The 50 percent is 10.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Was there an undertaking number?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it was J1.1.

All right.  I would like to move now to the international power line.  So I have got some questions about that.  The map you provided is quite helpful, but another source that we have gone to that I think sets it out in an even more compact form is the block map you provided, and I am wondering hopefully on the screen if we can have it pulled it up.  It is at Exhibit E11, tab 1, schedule 1, page 1, and there you will see the block -- the block map that shows -- I'm sorry, it was on the page that we were just on, right at the bottom there.  That's the -- we may be coming back to this.  I will probably -- had I thought of it I would have printed off a copy of this just so we don't have to flip back and forth.  But that shows -- this is -- this is a block map of the same system you showed us in a geographic context in Exhibit K1.1; is that correct?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, I think your mic was not on, sir.

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And you have covered some of this in your opening remarks, but just to go through a bit of the background very quickly.  The international power line used to connect your system to Buffalo; is that correct?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And it was in service for around 100 years; is that right?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And for the original purpose of the line -- I am not sure if you covered this or not -- was it originally designed to be a proper intertie with New York or was it always a reliability function?

MR. BRADBURY:  It -- originally it was an interconnection between the Ontario 25-cycle system and the New York 25-cycle system.

MR. MILLAR:  And forgive me if I missed this.  Did you indicate when it stopped being an intertie?

MR. BRADBURY:  It has never stopped being an intertie.

MR. MILLAR:  By "intertie" I mean a live intertie.

MR. BRADBURY:  The 25-cycle portion of the intertie ceased to operate in April 2009 with the sunset of the 25-cycle system.  The portion -- there is two circuits crossing there.  The portion that operates under National Energy Board permit is a 60-cycle intertie, is still in existence, and that is the one I described as the non-synchronous break-before-make interconnection between the Ontario IESO-controlled grid and the New York ISO-controlled grid.

MR. MILLAR:  Let me just follow up on that, because I want to make sure I'm clear.  You said the 60-cycle system still exists?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But it is in a state of forced outage; is that right?

MR. BRADBURY:  It is in a state of forced outage.  And to be quite -- so everyone understands, it was removed in the fall of 2014 as part of the rebuild project.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it is not physically there --


MR. BRADBURY:  It is not physically there as of the fall of 2014.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Okay, so as you were discussing, the line was in poor shape, if I can put it that way, and it has been in a state of forced outage since 2013 and physically removed in 2014.

MR. BRADBURY:  Primarily the tangent structure on the Canadian side of the river, referred to as the Queen Street Tower.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And you are proposing through this application to rebuild the international power line.  In fact, you have already started that project.  You have removed the old system, if I can put it that way.

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And as I understand it, the chief -- in fact, perhaps the only function of the international power line is -- it is for system reliability; is that fair?

MR. BRADBURY:  The function of the intertie is to allow energy to flow into the southern Niagara region, which is primarily the region controlled by CNPI's Tx system in the event of an outage on the Hydro One system.

MR. MILLAR:  Can it serve anyone other than CNPI transmission if there is an outage on that --


MR. BRADBURY:  Under the current rules only rules governed by the National Energy Board permit, which state that in order for the line to be energized we have to have a physical break with our interconnection with Hydro One.

MR. MILLAR:  So it is Station 11 as we see on this block map.  You would have to shut that off before you can turn on the IPL --


MR. BRADBURY:  It would be the wires.  If you are looking at the block map, it would be the wires that leave Station 11 and go to Allenbur -- or Murray TS, that circuit.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So what I understand from that is that the international power line can only serve CNPI; is that fair?

MR. BRADBURY:  It can only serve CNPI under the current rules of the National Energy Board.  If there was a desire by parties, the IESO or Hydro One, to apply to change those rules, then it is possible to take the power beyond Station 11 into Murray TS live in a bus at Murray TS if it was required to do that.

So the limitations are not physical, the limitations are by National Energy Board permit.

MR. MILLAR:  And do you have any plans to change the terms of the permit at this time?

MR. BRADBURY:  We had plans, which were Project Fortran.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  But there is no current plan --


MR. BRADBURY:  No, there is no plan right now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Okay.  So you would agree with me that if not the only then certainly the primary purpose of the international power line is to serve a reliability function for your transmission system.

MR. BRADBURY:  As it stands, the function will be to provide, but as we have said in many places in the evidence, it is an existing intertie, the IESO, and before the merger the OPA had in several occasions stressed the importance and the need and the value of interties, and as we point out in our application, you know, I think it would be short-sighted to say that it is only there.  It is a right-of-way which exists, it is a facility that exists, it is an interconnection that exists, and it has potential.  Should parties or matters change, then it provides another interconnection on the Erie loop.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  I understand.

And if you look at the block map, I think you -- this is an easy way to get a sense of the benefit of the line to CNPI.  I guess your concern is, if you look at, for example, at line 2, let's imagine there was an outage there, something went wrong, the line went down.  Absent the international power line, your entire system is cut off from the grid; is that fair?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And so the function of the IPL is to allow power to flow from the Buffalo side, and that could feed your Station 17 and 18.

MR. BRADBURY:  That would be a failure on any section of line to either one of the transmission stations or a failure at Murray TS.

MR. MILLAR:  When the international power line was running -- I may have this wrong, but I understood it was only energized if needed; is that right?  Or was it always energized?

MR. BRADBURY:  It is under potential.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So it is not energized.

MR. BRADBURY:  So it is energized at 115 kV.  There is an open switch, so there is not load -- inadvertent load flowing over the line.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you needed to access the international power line, I understand some steps had to be taken.  It wasn't as simple as --


MR. BRADBURY:  That is correct.  There is an operations control procedure in place with the Ontario IESO, as well as with the New York IESO.  That would -- on the New York side is operated by National Grid, so there is a set procedure that all parties are aware of, and that procedure is enacted.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understood that procedure -- correct me if I am wrong -- it takes three to six hours?  Did I have that right, or --


MR. BRADBURY:  It can happen in as soon as two hours.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Is there a range?

MR. BRADBURY:  I would say realistically from two to four hours.  On the American side you actually have to have a person attend one of the stations, but on the Canadian side it is all automated.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  Okay.  If I can ask you to turn to page 4 of this exhibit.  We seem to be having some computer difficulties.  The reference is Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1, page 4.

If you just go down to page 4?

MR. BRADBURY:  That is the page that starts:  "The importance of the IPL"?

MR. MILLAR:  That's correct.  There we go.

And you will see at about line 6, close to the top, it says -- I think this is giving some examples of the usefulness of the international power line.  It says:

"The IPL has historically provided an alternate source of power to CNPI transmission system in Fort Erie during certain outages."

And you list four examples there.  You see that?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  And just -- it seems to me that these were concrete examples of things that actually happened, but there were a couple other places I read it wasn't quite clear to me.  So can you just first confirm that these are not theoretical examples; these are things that actually happened?

MR. BRADBURY:  No.  We have not had a catastrophic failure.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So did any of the four things listed here actually happen?

MR. BRADBURY:  We have had outages on line 2, we have had outages at Murray TS, both physical and operator error on the Hydro One side of the switch.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. BRADBURY:  But in both cases, those two particular cases, Hydro One or the IESO was -- deemed that they could restore power sooner than the -- invoking the IPL.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So have you ever actually used the IPL for system reliability?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, we have.

MR. MILLAR:  When was that?

MR. BRADBURY:  I think it was November 2006.  There was a major snowstorm, ice storm that went through southern Ontario.  It affected the -- it affected both the transmission systems and the distribution systems.

At points during that outage we were isolated from the Hydro One side.  It wasn't feasible to make the repairs in a short period of time without dumping all of our -- de-energizing all of the customers.  So we invoked and energized the line in order to make repairs to part of our transmission system.

MR. MILLAR:  And I apologize if I have missed it.  Is that incident described in your evidence?

MR. BRADBURY:  It is described, but it was planned within the storm event itself when the storm struck.  And the -- we felt it was necessary, so it was a planned event to transfer the load.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So when you say "planned," "planned" means you actually used it, but am I understanding correctly --


MR. BRADBURY:  We scheduled the use of it.

MR. MILLAR:  Did you use it?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, we did.

MR. MILLAR:  Did it turn out that your system would have gone down absent using the --


MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, it would have.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  If this is in the evidence you can tell me, but how long -- do you have a sense of how long you were using the -- or how long you needed to use the international power line?

MR. BRADBURY:  It was used for eight hours.  The description of that begins on line 29 of that same page.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is the incident we are discussing here?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

And other than this incident in 2006, are there any other cases, aside from when the international power line was being used as a genuine intertie to New York, that it was used for system reliability purposes?

MR. BRADBURY:  There was one other incident in which it would have been used, but it was in forced outage.

MR. MILLAR:  So in the last year or so?

MR. BRADBURY:  In 2012.

MR. MILLAR:  I thought it went into forced outage in 2013.

MR. BRADBURY:  Oh, I'm sorry.  Yes, it was, but it was post of the engineering studies; it was after the engineering studies and the evaluations we formally put it in forced outage.  But it wasn't available to us on May 6, 2012, because we were -- the ongoing assessment.  And we deemed it wasn't...

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you had an outage in that case?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, we did.  We had a 12-hour outage.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, did you say eight or 12 hours?  Or did you want to check on that?

MR. BRADBURY:  The original outage was eight hours.

MR. MILLAR:  And when you say "outage," is that an outage on your entire system in both of those cases?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Or is it just one transformer station?

MR. BRADBURY:  It's the entire system.

MR. MILLAR:  So your entire transmission system was down?

MR. BRADBURY:  The entire area of greater Fort Erie, which is a relatively large geographic area, was without power.

MR. MILLAR:  And again, just -- I think obviously all this is in the evidence.  CNPI Distribution is only served by CNPI Transmission, right?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So if CNPI Transmission is out, CNPI Distribution is automatically out?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The 2012 incident, obviously, was not planned outage, right?  Or it was a planned outage?

Help me out with that.

MR. HAN:  I will try to explain this situation.

In 2012 before the outage, we actually have issues with one of our outage in the system.  And we have a discussion about an outage, but then the other discussion was:  We are going to do the IPL, so let's postpone this eight-hour outage again.  If we can get a -- at that time we thought we could get it done in 2014.  The project should be rebuilt in 2014.

So we wanted to postpone this outage.  So if we can get the international power line repaired, then we can use the international power line for this purpose to avoid this outage.

So the deficiency still exists.  And we are hanging our hat to say this thing is not going wrong, and we are hoping the IPL project will move ahead.

If it is not -- if it is not, we have is to take another eight-hour outage as soon as we know the conclusion.

MR. MILLAR:  You will have to take another eight-hour outage?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MS. FRY:  Just to clarify, that is a continuous eight hours, is it?

MR. HAN:  Yes.  So usually what we do is we pick a Sunday and we start it at -- very early in the morning, like after midnight, and then we will get to eight o'clock in the morning or nine o'clock in the morning before the church-goer -- to go, you know.

MS. FRY:  But it is not the kind of repair where you can say:  We do four hours now and four hours later?  It has to be continuous?

MR. HAN:  Usually what we do is we accumulate all the small things, repairs or maintenance work, and when we took that outage we get all the crews out and get everything sorted out.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So for that latter type of outage, if you thought it was appropriate you might be able to split up the eight hours, but for the big repair you are talking about you need a continuous eight hours?

MR. KILFOIL:  Any planned work we have to do that requires an outage, about three to four hours of that eight hours is getting to the point where we turn the power off, we establish work protection and the workers can begin to work, and then coming back from that stage.  So the minimum outage to take it out and put it back is four hours, plus whatever time it actually takes to effect the repairs.

So if I have a one-hour repair, that is a five-hour outage.  If I have a four-hour repair, that's an eight-hour outage.

MS. FRY:  So if you split it up, the total time would be significantly more?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And again, I will move on after this one final question.  Did I understand both the outages, the one in 2006 and the one in 2012, were eight hours?

MR. HAN:  The 2006 outage is eight hours, but the 2012 outage is planned but cancelled.  We didn't actually take the outage; we are still waiting for the IPL.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand.  So it has not actually happened yet?

MR. HAN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  When it does happen -- if it has to happen, sorry, it will be eight hours?

MR. HAN:  I'm sorry.  Yes, actually we did have an outage, sorry.  I get confused now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there was an outage in May 2012?

MR. HAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And that outage was eight hours?

MR. KILFOIL:  Or 580 minutes, if you want to be precise.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I can't do the math to figure out how many hours it is, but I will assume it is about eight hours.

MR. BRADBURY:  Just to clarify, we are running somewhat of a calculated risk by deferring the repairs until such time as the IPL -- if it fails, you know, unknown to us, like, if it's not -- if we can't make it to that planned outage and make the repairs, it will fail at some point.  We have made a calculated risk that it will last that long, but if it fails the outage will be much longer than eight hours.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But as currently planned, if the IPL is not approved, I guess you would have to do this outage.  It is planned for eight hours.

MR. BRADBURY:  A minimum of eight hours, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Other than 2006 and 2012 did you ever use the international power line for reliability?

MR. HAN:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

In terms of this having backup capability, obviously it is always a good thing to have backup, but what standards have you looked at or relied upon to justify, if that is the right word, the expense of having the international power line to serve as a reliability function?

MR. BRADBURY:  I think we are going to say we rely for the most part on good utility practices.  There are other unique aspects of the CNPI transmission system that leaves us prone to -- or creates a condition where we could be subject to very lengthy outages.

Canadian Niagara Power, both transmission and distribution, due to its history, prior to the market opening we were in the New York control zone, not the Ontario control zone.  We operate voltages at Canadian Niagara Power, which is possibly the oldest utility in Ontario.  We operate at voltages that are not common in Ontario.  We operate -- well, the majority of Ontario on the 115 kV system, and I think I can say this safely, will operate at a 11527.6, which is the backbone of the Hydro One and the old municipal electric utilities.

However, in Fort Erie we operate it on a sort of a different standard, and we have a 115 to 34.5 kV, 60-cycle distribution system which was created through the conversion of the 25-cycle system to a 60-cycle system, so it operates at a different voltage in Ontario.

If another utility in Ontario were to take an outage on, say, one of its main stations, say a station equivalent to our Station 17 or 18, there are resources within Ontario where they can very quickly resource a spare transformer and -- or the assistance of Hydro One with their fleet of, you know, sustainment transformers.

For Canadian Niagara Power we don't have that luxury.  We operate that 34 system, and up until 2013 -- and this is a product of the original application in 2001 -- we operate two single-element transmission stations, each one operating in a secondary voltage of 34.5 kV.

The stations can no longer back each other up through the distribution system.  They could in the early years.  They can't do that any longer.

So if we lose one of those elements we are facing weeks, months to source a repair.  To go out and buy a transformer is many, many months, so our transmission system and our customers' distribution system has an added layer of vulnerability, and for that reason we feel the -- you know, by allowing us to disconnect from Hydro One and bring in the -- bring the IPL into service we have an additional source, and we are able to arrange or manage the system in order to, if not supply everyone, then allow at a minimum rotational outages.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you for that.  So I understand that it is -- that having a backup is an element of good utility practice.  Are there any other -- any IESO standards, for example, or any NERC or FERC, for that matter?  Is there anything other than good utility practice that you are relying on for this rebuild?

MR. KILFOIL:  Prior to the drafting of the document we used the industry standard practice of eight hours or less.  That was essential -- when the ORTAC, which is the Ontario Resource and Transmission Assessment Criteria, were introduced by the IESO, it happened to also be eight hours, so we just carried on with that same standard, so at this time we tried to be compliant with ORTAC, which is the same as our pre-existing practice.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And the Board prefers to not use acronyms, although I find that difficult myself sometimes.  ORTAC is Ontario...

MR. KILFOIL:  Ontario Resource and Transmission Assessment Criteria.

MR. MILLAR:  Ontario Resource and Transmission?

MR. KILFOIL:  Assessment --


MR. MILLAR:  Assessment Criteria.

MR. KILFOIL:  -- Criteria.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And that is referenced a few places in the evidence I have seen.

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes, and that is an IESO document.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And is that actually -- is that formally binding on you, or it's something that you just look to for guidance?

MR. KILFOIL:  It forms part of the market rules, so therefore, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So are you actually required to be able to get your system back up -- to have outages not longer than eight hours?

MR. KILFOIL:  I would say based on the document, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that planned outages or just any outage?

MR. KILFOIL:  I don't believe the document differentiates.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Does that document or any element of a good utility practice you have looked to, does it speak to any cost/benefit analysis?

MR. KILFOIL:  The specific section in ORTAC that I am referring to is section 7, specifically 7.2(a), and if you read this it is actually referenced in one of the Board interrogatory questions as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it is.

MR. KILFOIL:  Which is 2 Staff 23, I believe.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, so Staff 23.  Yes.

MR. KILFOIL:  And there doesn't seem to be any costing evaluation in this.  It just simply establishes the bright line that you are supposed to adhere to when you are doing your planning.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, and so perhaps for that reason -- well, let me ask the question this way:  Have you done any cost/benefit analysis as to whether the costs of doing this, irrespective of the eight hours -- let me give you an example.  Let's say it cost $100 million to get you from 8.5 hours to 7.9 hours.  Presumably at that point someone would look at that and say, Listen, even though we are technically over the ORTAC standard, this just doesn't make sense.  It's not -- there's no -- the benefits are not worth the costs.  And I am not saying that we are talking about a situation as clear as that here, but did CNPI do any type of cost/benefit analysis as to whether the expense was commensurate with the reward?

MR. BRADBURY:  I think, you know, we view this as a sustainment project.  We have that capability now.  That capability is in our existing rate base due to forced outages, not -- and due to the fact we have a project underway, it is not available, but it is a sustainment project, so we view it as maintaining an aspect of our transmission system that our customer and Ontario system as a whole enjoys.  So from that point of view we haven't.

However, in the application itself we have discussed in length -- we have compared the cost of rebuilding to the cost of abandoning or retiring, and the costs -- the costs associated with not rebuilding the line are as much or more as rebuilding it.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So we will get to that in a moment.

In terms of whether it would be good utility practice or the ORTAC, do either of those speak to assessing the actual likelihood of an outage, like how real this risk is, for example, or is that kind of a judgment call?

MR. BRADBURY:  In the likelihood of an outage is, I would think, a judgment call, but I have been doing this for 34 years, and I know there will be an outage.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we discussed this in the technical conference, if I am not mistaken, and maybe I am not remembering it accurately, but I recall someone saying this is sort of a low risk, in the sense that it is not going to happen every month or even every year, but it is actually a very -- when it does happen, it is a big deal; is that a fair way to put it?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.  If you were to build a risk profile for this, you would probably categorize it on the left-hand side as a low risk, on the right-hand side as a very high impact, making it a very expensive proposition and dangerous proposition.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Could I ask you to turn up Staff IR 23, and in particular part (d) to that response.  You have prepared a chart here, which I will get into a bit more later, but just for the purpose of this line of questioning, what this shows is your outage frequency and your outage duration at the various stations over the last five years or so; is that right?

MR. KILFOIL:  Over the five-year period between 2009 and 2013.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  So I take it this would include -- no, it wouldn't have the 2006 outage because that is before 2009.  The 2012 outage would be included here?

MR. KILFOIL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I am just looking at station 17.  2012, there were two outages.  So that was one of them?

MR. KILFOIL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the total is 580 minutes, which I understood to be about eight hours, but I thought the single May outage was 580 minutes.  So do I take it from that the other outage was very short?

MR. KILFOIL:  That is correct.  That was a short loss of supply from the Hydro One network.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So that is just a few minutes?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Looking at this chart -- and again, I do have some questions on the delivery point standards later, but is it fair to say that your outages are not particularly frequent?

MR. KILFOIL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  We will get into that in a bit more later.

All right.  Why don't we talk about some of the alternatives that you looked at to the IPL?  And I think maybe the best place to look here is back to Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1, and I think it starts at page 6.

I think you looked at about four alternatives, if I am not mistaken, but I won't take you through all of them, but I will start with the first one.

And your first alternative, as you present it, is what you call the status quo.  And that is essentially to do nothing; is that fair?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess the advantage you identified to that option is that it doesn't cost you very much, at least if you literally do nothing.

But you also highlighted some disadvantages.  And one, obviously, is the reliability issue; is that right?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And we have discussed that, so I don't think we need to go over that again at this time.

The other issue was certain safety concerns; am I correct?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And that had to do with the Queen Street Tower, and pieces were falling off it or it was going to collapse or something like that; is that fair?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Is the Queen Street Tower still standing, or have you already taken that down?

MR. HAN:  We already took it down in 2014, fall of 2014.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So is it fair to say that the safety issue is no longer a live issue?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. BRADBURY:  That aspect of the safety issue is no longer.

MR. MILLAR:  What are the other aspects of the safety issues?

MR. BRADBURY:  From the alternative of doing nothing?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Not reliability, but safety

MR. BRADBURY:  What happens if we do nothing, we have a -- we have basically an appendix or appendices on our transmission system.  We'll have about 2 kilometres of line that leave station 18 and travels to the Bertie Hill Tower, which is the separation point between the transmission system and what we have described as the IPL.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. BRADBURY:  So we will have several kilometres of 115 kV transmission line that will essentially be disconnected and just sitting there disconnected.  It will no longer be under the control of our SCADA system.  We won't be aware, other than if a customer calls in and says your line has fallen down or something like that.

So it is definitely not good utility practice, and it would be a hazard.

MR. MILLAR:  That line is still standing?

MR. BRADBURY:  That line is still standing.

MR. MILLAR:  All right.  You get into that a bit more under alternative 3, I believe.  And that's starting at page 8 of Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1.

This option, you will see at the top, is the removal of the international power line.  Again, just to confirm, that has already occurred; correct?

MR. BRADBURY:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  The retirement of line 46 from station 18 to the Buffalo high tower, and that's the line you were just discussing; correct?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then following that, reinforcement of the CNPI transmission system to meet current reliability standards?

MR. BRADBURY:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the cost of that option is about $10.4 million; is that right?

MR. HAN:  That is in our original estimate.  We also had undertaking in -- which is taking into account the recent impact of the conversion rates.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, could you repeat that?  I missed it.  It is the conversion rates?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.  That estimate originally was done when the Canadian dollar was roughly 90 percent of the American dollar, and that has obviously been changed.

So during the undertaking you asked us to revisit that calculation based on the current exchange rate.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, you are right.  And the cost has risen because of that?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And that is because you got the estimate from a US contractor?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Did you consider Canadian contractors?

MR. HAN:  Yes, we did.  And when we go out, we have to pay $30,000 to get an estimate.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. HAN:  So instead, we find this company doing that for free.

MR. KILFOIL:  Well, the estimate.

MR. HAN:  The estimate, sorry.

MR. MILLAR:  I imagine they will recover the cost of the estimate later, but I understand what you are saying.

MR. BRADBURY:  Just to clarify, we didn't go looking for another company.  The company that gave us that estimate is the company that removed the international power line, so they were already familiar with us, they were familiar with the facilities, and they felt that they could extend that to us and provide us an estimate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I understand.

And if we look at the estimated costs that they have set out there -- and this is on page 9 of this document -- you will see that at the top.  I understand that some of those have changed a little bit because of the exchange rate, but this is just a convenient place for the ballpark figures anyway.

The first thing, removing the existing IPL, that has already been done.  So those costs have already been incurred; is that right?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you look, by far the biggest portion of the expense is -- it is almost $6 million, which I think is more than $6 million now because of the exchange rate.  That is just to take down that line 46; is that right?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And I know you provided the estimate.  Can you give me a high-level sense of why that cost so much money?  $6 million seems like an awful lot of money to take down a line.

MR. HAN:  The section of the line is running in the off-load situation.  It consists of 31 towers.  It is single-pole, steel pole, towers.  And it has very deep foundation; a lot of concrete buried on those foundations.  So by removing that line, we pretty much have to restore the -- from an environmental perspective we have to restore the line to the land to a reasonable status.  And by doing so, there will be a lot of money spent on the removal of the concrete foundation and also restoration of the land.  That is part one.

Part two is this line crosses over five major intersections.  Two of them are the QEW, so to try to work around QEW crossing and -- that going to be spend actual time on that.  And it is very labour-intensive.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  That is a good overview.

In terms of, let's call it, $6 million for the purposes of this cross-examination, let's imagine you did go with that option.  Would that be expensed, from an accounting perspective?  I don't know if you've thought about this or not, but...

MR. KING:  We would seek recovery of that, of those costs.

MR. MILLAR:  But expensed or capitalized?

MR. KING:  We would seek recovery, be it through expenses or through capitalized.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you have a sense of what it would be?

MR. KING:  Well, if the asset is no longer there, then you would probably likely not want us to capitalize.  Maybe through a deferral account, et cetera.

MR. MILLAR:  So it would be an expense, but perhaps spread out or -- again, I am not tying you to something here.  I'm just curious as to how this would work.

MR. KING:  We have not thought that through, exactly how it...

MR. MILLAR:  You are removing a different line, which we will get to later, the 25-cycle line.  And you are taking out a number of poles each year and you are expensing that; is that correct?

MR. KING:  We are removing those towers.  Yes, we are expensing that.

MR. MILLAR:  And you are just spreading it out over a number of years; you're taking down X number of poles every year and that way you spread it out over time?

MR. KING:  Correct.  Mm-hmm.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that an analogous situation to what we have here?  Or would this be different?

MR. HAN:  In principle, yes, but technically, because these towers are in a more urban area, even though they are off-road, but it is not that far off-road, have to do that -- it is not like the other tower line we can do that freely, you know.  A lot of space you can dead-end.  In this particular line, because it crosses so many roads, you don't have a lot of places dead-end this thing.  To try to dead-end is a major expense, so it is very likely we are going to retire this line in a very compact fashion, I am not sure is one year or two years.  It is certainly not going to be ten years.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Again, still on this topic, if you could flip to page 10, the next page, and you will see point 4 here, starting at about line 8.  If the international power line were removed the section of transmission line between Station 18 and Bertie Hill Tower should be retired as well at the cost of $5.5 million, since this section of line would serve no load.

Is that the section of line we were just talking about?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I note the use of the word "should be retired" as well.  Is that an element of good utility practice, or is there a standard or a rule or code or something that would require it to be removed?

MR. BRADBURY:  Again, I guess primarily it would be good utility practice.  I can't see leaving a 115 kV steel pole transmission line that passes through Fort Erie that is not used for anything, basically.  You know, again, it will be subject to lightning strikes, it will be subject to the weather and elements.  Eventually at some point, again, it will come down.  You know, it just doesn't make sense to leave it there and let it reach end of life and fall down.  It has to be removed.  If it is not used it has to be removed --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So good utility practice?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.  As much utility practice as common sense.  You just, you know, you wouldn't leave a building downtown empty, you know, and allow it to fall down over time.

MR. MILLAR:  Yeah, no, I understand, I just -- my question was if there is an independent standard.

MR. BRADBURY:  No, I am not aware of something.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

Madam Chair, I think we were looking to take a break around 11:00.  I have one -- I have an area I can get into that I am hoping I can finish by 11:00, but should I proceed, or would you like to take a break?

MS. FRY:  Is that still concerning the international power line?

MR. MILLAR:  It is, yes.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Why don't you go on, and we will break at 11:00.  I know the panel will have some questions on this topic, and we will see if we want to hold the panel's questions until after the break.

MR. MILLAR:  Very well.  I am not sure I will finish on the IPL by 11:00, though.  This is -- I have three topics -- four topics on the IPL, and I'm just moving into the --


MS. FRY:  Okay.  Well, let's see what you can reasonably do.  Find a reasonable stopping place around 11:00.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you, I will.

I am going to move on to the next topic, though, still under the international power line.  And some questions, I guess, about how -- let's assume the Board approves the project as you filed it.  What is the cost?  It's 6.9 million?  Is that the right number?  What is the cost of the international power line?  I know it is all over the place.  I just don't have it at my fingertips.  The rebuild.

MR. HAN:  Yes, and that's including the retirement cost.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So, sorry, 6.9 million?

MR. HAN:  Approximately, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.   So let's imagine the Board approves your plan as you have filed it.  I want to get into, I guess, the question of who pays or how that is reflected through the UTR.  Maybe we can look at the block system map again.  I think the easiest place to see that is on page 1 of this diagram.  There it is at the bottom of that page.

So you will be familiar that, you know, for the purposes of the uniform transmission rates and how we set up the transmission system, there are a number of pools that costs can go into.  There is the network pool and there is the transformation connection pool and the line connection pool.  I take it someone on the panel is familiar with that.  Is that you, Mr. Lavoie, or is it Mr. King?

MR. BRADBURY:  It would be me.

MR. MILLAR:  The lucky respondent again.  Okay.  As I look through the block map -- we don't need to do every one of these, but can you tell me, for example, is Station 11 -- what pool does that fall into?

MR. BRADBURY:  Well, to be quite honest, we've -- other than the -- in 2011 our system was not segregated into the pools.  It was done on a basis -- I am not going to say arbitrary basis, but for some reason in 2001 a number was chosen.

In this most recent application we have followed the allocation of the Hydro One pool assets, so whatever the overriding -- the overriding system is, that is the way our system is allocated.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Maybe you can -- again, I am not  -- I haven't done a lot of transmission work, I have to be frank with you, so can you help me out with that a bit?  First of all, for Station 11 is it allocated to a pool?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, it is not allocated to a pool as an asset.  What has happened with the transmitters other than Hydro One -- and I don't remember the particular Hydro One hearing that this came out of, but the other transmitters have followed suit in allocating their assets to follow the allocation of Hydro One, Hydro One being 97 percent of the assets, and they really carry the weighting of the pool assets.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Maybe I can take a step back just to discuss the purpose of the pools.  I guess for network assets I understand 100 percent of the cost of those would go into the uniform transmission rates, and there is no capital contribution sought by anyone who might be using those assets.  It's entirely paid for --


MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.  That is my understanding as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, in terms of all or any of your assets, are they entirely covered through the uniform transmission rate or are there capital contributions from anyone for any element of these assets?

MR. BRADBURY:  They are all in the UTR, the uniform transmission rates.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So for all of these assets there has been no capital or contribution otherwise from any other party.

MR. BRADBURY:  No, the only party would have been -- or the only other party connected is Canadian Niagara Power Distribution, and --


MR. MILLAR:  That's right, and they have made no capital contribution for any of CNPI Transmission's assets.

MR. BRADBURY:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  In a scenario where a CNPI distribution required some upgrades, for example they had customer growth or load growth or what have you, in a situation like that -- I don't think that is what is facing you today, but in a situation like that, is it your understanding that some sort of contribution would be required, or would that be entirely through the UTRs as well?

MR. BRADBURY:  My understanding is under the current market rules the distribution company would notify the transmission company of a load growth requirement and then there would be negotiation basically between the two parties and a contribution aid to construction.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So there would be some contribution made by the --


MR. BRADBURY:  There'd be no separate -- CNPI Distribution and CNP Transmission would follow the exact same process as any other LDC dealing with its host transmitter.

MR. MILLAR:  For the international power line, I guess, you haven't sought any contribution from distribution; is that correct?

MR. BRADBURY:  No, we have not.

MR. MILLAR:  And you were speaking about -- let me just ask you the question:  Why not?

MR. BRADBURY:  Well, again, when the market opened in May 2002, when the market was established, the international power line existed, as did any other network line connection anywhere in the province.  It was an existing asset.  It was an asset owned and controlled and maintained by CNPI Transmission.

That asset has reached the end of its life, or one component of the asset has reached the end of its life, due to natural weathering and corrosion of the support structure.  CNPI Transmission is obligated to maintain, and in our view is obligated to maintain the functionality of its distribution system.  In order to maintain that we have to replace the structure.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so don't let me put words in your mouth, but essentially your view is since you are essentially replacing something that is already there, it should have the same -- the costs should flow the same way.  Is that a fair way to put it?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yeah, I mean, it has already been paid for by the customer.  Like, if a customer pays a contribution aid to construction to have a transmission line built to their system and the night after that it is struck by lightning and destroyed, the host transmitter is responsible to put it back.  The distributor paid the first costs, but once it is in place, sustainment of it is the responsibility of the owner and operator.

MR. MILLAR:  I know it is currently in a state of forced outage and is not actually even physically there anymore, but when the international power line was up and running and when it will be again if it is approved by the Board, I understood earlier that, at least in terms of the current NEB licence or whatever the documentation is, it can only serve CNPI Distribution; is that -- it can only serve CNPI Transmission, and therefore it can only serve CNPI Distribution; is that fair?

MR. BRADBURY:  Under the National Energy Board No. 137, it is a break-before-make connection, so we cannot parallel the New York system with the Ontario system at any point in time.

MR. MILLAR:  So the only end-customer that benefits from the international power line -- at least as it is currently structured -- is CNPI Distribution; is that fair?

MR. BRADBURY:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Is the international power line part of the bulk power system?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, it is.  By "bulk power system" you mean the IESO-controlled grid?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. BRADBURY:  It is under the operational control, through operational control procedures in place with the IESO.

MR. MILLAR:  Even though it is an asynchronous...

MR. BRADBURY:  Even though it is an asynchronous connection.  No aspect of the IESO-controlled grid can be operated by the host without the approval of the control authority, which is the IESO.  There are agreed -- there are processes in place that are signed off by both parties.

MR. MILLAR:  I think I can probably get one more area in before the break.

MR. BRADBURY:  I am good to continue.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Could you turn up Staff IR 18, please?  And in particular page 2 of that interrogatory response, I guess it is under (c).

So this shows -- this is a chart that is provided with the interrogatory response.  You will see it shows your capital additions, and then depreciation, et cetera.

So my question here relates to the amounts that you closed to rate base in 2014.  You will see there was a capital addition in 2014 of almost $1.8 million?  Do you see that?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And that, I understand, is the costs you incurred to remove the international power line.  We discussed that before.  Is that right?

MR. KING:  They were the planned costs, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, say again?

MR. KING:  They were the planned costs.  That was in the rate application.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But that is what you put in the books for 2014?

MR. KING:  That is what we put in the rate application for 2014.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  In then in 2015 you have $5.1 million.  I take it that is the balance of the costs for the international power line?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you help me out?  Why is the $1.7 million added to rate base in 2014 and not 2015, when the project is up and running?

MR. KING:  I think that was an error on our behalf.  I think Richard had sent out a schedule last night which shows a corrected rate base.  And we had assumed incorrectly that that should have been capitalized, but it shouldn't be.

We actually spent -- I think it was in -- I am not sure what reference to what undertaking -- 1.4, $1.5 million.  And that's the correct number, so we are subject to correct the rate base based upon that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you are --


MR. KILFOIL:  Yes, absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  You agree that is in error and the entire amount should be in 2015?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  That will have some impact on the revenue requirement?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I guess there be an update to the continuity -- how will we find out what that number is?  Is that in the -- we have got some more questions on some of the updates, so maybe we will come back to that.

MR. KING:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  But your answer's very helpful on that.

MS. FRY:  Excuse me, Mr. Millar.  He is referring to a document that I don't think is on the record.  Should that be made an exhibit?

MR. MILLAR:  I think he was referring to your response to the technical conference undertakings.  Or am I mistaken?

MR. KING:  No.  No, it was a document -- I'll let you answer that document.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry.  It was my confusion.  We had another series of questions that will follow that I guess sort of touch on this issue as well.

So Board Staff had prepared a chart that we have already given to the applicant, but this is not actually my series of questions on that chart.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So you will make it –- the chart isn't -- thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  We'll get to that and it can be entered as an exhibit.  And I think we can close the loop on this issue at that time as well.

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I think we are agreed in principle on this.

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then we can just follow up when we get to my other questions on that.

Madam Chair, I think I can finish my IPL questions in about five minutes and that would probably be a good time for a break.  We are really rolling now.

I want to talk about the in-service dates you have for the project.  And as currently scheduled, the project will be completed in 2015; is that correct?

MR. HAN:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And indeed, as we looked at that chart above, it shows that 2015 is the date when the bulk of it would go into rate base.

And I understand that you had planned it originally to start construction of the new international power line in February of 2015; is that right?

MR. HAN:  That is correct.  In March.

MR. MILLAR:  Originally you had intended February, I think?

MR. HAN:  Yes, that is right.

MR. MILLAR:  And now it is moved to -- in fact maybe the best place to look for this would be if you look at Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1, page 22.

MR. HAN:  I've got it.

MR. MILLAR:  I will just let it get pulled up.  It is page 22 of Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1.

Maybe -- do you have that in front of you?

MR. HAN:  Yes, I do.

MR. MILLAR:  It is just showing some dates, so I think we can probably proceed while we are waiting for it to come on the screen.

What you have for the timing of the project, from September 2014 to November 2014 it was the demolition of the old IPL, and you have already done that; correct?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And then you have, at least on this schedule, starting February 2015 through October 2015, it would be the ordering of materials and constructing the new IPL?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understand, because this process takes some time, there have been some delays there; is that fair to say?

MR. HAN:  The reason we set this schedule is because we need Board approval before we build it.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. HAN:  We think that is prudent to do that.  Therefore we delayed ordering the material.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you have not yet ordered the material?

MR. HAN:  Not yet.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I understood that originally -- this is in response to a Staff IR, but I don't think you need to pull it up.  Originally you had stated you needed a Board order by March 1st, 2015 to get this done in 2015?  That was your original view; is that fair?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  But then in the technical conference we reviewed this with you, and you indicated there was probably a bit more leeway than that and you would need eight months from the time of the decision to getting the project up and running; is that fair?

MR. HAN:  It is the original preliminary estimate and the ballpark of the time is ordering material.  And at the time we did the planning, we went to one particular vendor without going through the whole tendering process, because at that time we cannot tender.  We went through preliminary consultation with one vendor, and they told us this type of material takes 20 to 20 (sic) weeks to deliver at that time -- 20 to 28 weeks to deliver at that time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. HAN:  Of course, the actual delivery time depends on the availability on the time we put in the order.  So at the time we took 24 weeks as the average delivering time, and add on some construction schedule.  We think we can get it done in the eight months.

But from our past practice, a lot of times when you put in the real order the time can be squeezed, but we don't know that for sure.

MR. HAN:  And -- but we don't know that for sure.

MR. MILLAR:  How long -- once you get the materials, how long does it take you to do the construction?


MR. HAN:  Once we get the -- everything is approved, it takes about three months' construction, but we don't need the material until the second month, so the first month is digging and doing all this site preparation.  So the actual -- after we receive material is probably takes about two months, according to the schedule.

MR. MILLAR:  So let me ask this directly:  When do you need the decision in order to complete this project in 2015?

MR. HAN:  At this time, if you give me a decision, no later than May --


MR. MILLAR:  May 1st?

MR. HAN:  May 1st, we may have a good chance to get it completed.  If you get into May, to June, to July, we are going to have a difficulty to look at it.  But once again, this is an estimate -- it is a guesstimate.  Let me put it that way.  We cannot for sure say that, because it really depends on the market condition at the time.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  So anything past May it is getting tight?  Is that fair to say?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  In fact, it might be tight even at May 1st?

MR. HAN:  I think May 1st, because we are postponing another two months on the bottom too, you are asking instead of October, now we are looking at year end, so if you look at that, we still think May 1st is a good eight months there.

MR. MILLAR:  Once you finish construction, are there any other steps or activities you have to do before you can actually energize the line or have the line ready to be energized, like testing, or does -- the inspection, things like that?

MR. HAN:  That can be done parallel with the line construction.  It is not a bottleneck from construction perspective.  The only little time required at end of the commission actually tie with the U.S. grid requires, as we said before, a few hours of coordination with them, you know, but those can be done ahead of time as well.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so imagine you finish construction December 15th, 2015.  You could use that line the next day?

MR. HAN:  As once again it depends on at the time the condition of the system, and because whether the Americans is ready for testing on that time is Christmas now.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. BRADBURY:  To answer your question, theoretically if it is finished December 15th then, yes, we can use it.

MR. MILLAR:  So is the testing or inspecting done by the 15th?

MR. BRADBURY:  The acceptance testing is normally done at the end of construction and done during construction, so it is a fairly theoretical question you are asking, so --


MR. MILLAR:  Sure, I appreciate that.

MR. BRADBURY:  So, yes, if all things are coordinated with the -- with National Grid, so they do their acceptance testing of the terminations at Terminal House B, then I see no issue within a matter of days when the contractor has removed his lines and signed clear of the line.  I see nothing more than a matter of days when National Grid could do their acceptance, and we would do our acceptance testing on the Canadian side and -- yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  So that would be done approximately the same time construction is done.

MR. BRADBURY:  We would coordinate it with construction so all parties are ready to go as the contractor is pulling away, because you wouldn't want the contractor to leave and then find a deficiency.  So we would coordinate it with the contractor.

MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  Okay, thank you very much, gentlemen.

It is eleven o'clock, Madam Chair, so perhaps this would be a good time for a break --


MS. FRY:  You are --


MR. MILLAR:  -- right on the dot.

MS. FRY:  -- remarkably punctual.  Yes, we will take a break to 11:20.
--- Recess at 11:00 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:23 a.m.

MS. FRY:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  I don't think is system is on.

MS. FRY:  We got it now.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Over the break we had an opportunity to review our notes and some of the answers, and we did have just a follow-up on one area, the international power line, if I may.

And, panel, this relates to the alternatives, again, that you had considered with regard to the IPL, and in particular alternative 3.  And maybe if I can ask you to turn to page 9 of Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1.

MR. TAYLOR:  We seem to be having computer problems here, so I am wondering if we could proceed without the documents being put on the screen.

The panel have their own copies.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We are at Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9.

Does the Panel have -- the Board Panel?

MS. FRY:  No, but if you can describe what it is...

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  You will see there is a number of –- at page 9 the total cost of option 3 is $10.4 million; that is what we discussed earlier this morning?

MR. HAN:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And what you have done is you compared that to the $6.9 million of the project you propose and concluded, obviously, that 6.9 is a lower number than 10.4; is that fair?

MR. HAN:  That's fair.

MR. MILLAR:  But if we look at this from an accounting perspective, the $6.9 million for the option you're proposing is all capitalized; is that right?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  If we look at option 3, I am going to suggest to you -- and we can go through these -- that most of these items would be expensed as opposed to capitalized.

So just to go through them, you've got the five things listed here.  The first is the removal of the existing IPL, which you will see on the screen now, at about $1.8 million.

Under scenario 3 is that expensed or capitalized?

MR. KING:  Sorry, I got tied up.  Can you repeat that?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  You can see on the screen in front of you there is the -- these are the estimated costs for option 3, and I am trying to determine which of these would be expensed and which would be capitalized.

MR. KING:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  For the removal of the existing IPL, is that expensed or capitalized?  Under option 3, not under option 1.

MR. KING:  So from a pure accounting perspective, there would no longer be an existing asset there.  So the expectation is that would be expensed.

MR. MILLAR:  That would be expensed.

To improve CNPI's transmission capability, is that expensed of capitalized?

MR. KING:  That would be capitalized.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So 1.1 million -- is that training, or what is that?  What is that $1.1 million?

MR. HAN:  Approximately we need a -- the component for that one is a truck which can reach the heights.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. HAN:  That has to be capitalized.  And also we need to buy material to be ready for -- prepare for a tower failure.  That will be capitalized.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So most of that 1.1 million is capitalized?

MR. HAN:  That will be capitalized, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  The relocation of 1.5 kilometres of line, I assume that 1.5 million would be capitalized as well?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And we already discussed the $5.9 million, but I think the agreement was that there might be some look at spreading it out.  But it would be expensed and not capitalized; is that fair?

MR. HAN:  To -- in that $5.9 million, $5.5 million is for the retirement of the line.  And the $400,000 is a rebuild of a distribution line, which will be capitalized.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So 5.5 million -- again, I know these numbers have changed a bit, but at least on this schedule --

MR. HAN:  So $400,000 of that 5.9 would be capitalized.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So almost all of it is expensed.

MR. HAN:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  And then to construct the dead-end tower, I assume that $100,000 would be capitalized?

MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. KING:  Just to follow up there, you know, our analysis looks at the pure cash outlay to do this.  You are talking about timing and present value if it's in depreciation rates, et cetera, but we are talking pure cash outlay.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I understand.

MR. KING:  As most of our analysis would be, that is what we would do; we wouldn't look at timing as such.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And as I add this up -- this is, again, just very rough -- of the $10.5 million in costs, approximately, about 7.5 million of that would be expensed; is that fair?

MR. KING:  Subject to check --

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, not 7.5.  About 7?

MR. KING:  Subject to check.  I haven't looked at the number.

MR. MILLAR:  Something in that range?  We could add it up, but around $7 million would be expensed.

I guess I am just wondering –- obviously from -- when these costs hit ratepayers, it obviously makes a difference whether something is expensed or capitalized.  So it is not necessarily just the total cost you look at.  There might be some thought as to whether things are expensed or capitalized.

And I am just wondering if you had -- because when things are capitalized, you spread it out over time, but you also have to pay cost of capital on top of that?  That would be the big difference, right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So although option 1 is $6.9 million, that's the budget for it, I guess.  In terms of what ratepayers pay, over time it'll actually be more than that; is that fair?

MR. KING:  There is cost of capital, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Nothing wrong with that.  That is how the system works.

MR. KING:  Yes, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  But that is why we look at these things as to whether or not things are expensed or capitalized; it makes a difference as to how it is paid for.

I am just wondering, was any analysis done between option 3 and the preferred option as to how this actually impacts the rates themselves, as opposed to the budget?  Did you consider that, or did you just look at the $10.5 million, say that is higher than 6.9, and therefore it is not a good option?

MR. KING:  If you -- again, we didn't go through rates but we simply looked at the total costs, as you suggest, of 6.9 versus 10-plus million dollars and the simple cash outlay.  And we would expect it all be collected through rates.

So again, it would be just time value of money, which is what you are talking about, but we are talking about initial cash outlay.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's helpful.  Thank you.  I understand that a bit better.

Madam Chair, those are our questions on the international power line.  I don't know if the Panel had any questions on that topic?


MS. FRY:  Yes.  We are going to pause and do Panel questions on that topic, and then you can resume your cross.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.
Questions by the Board:

MS. HARE:  Just a quick question about the historic information about the outage on the IPL.

You spoke about the November 2006 outage being eight hours.  Your evidence, though, talks about being connected to National Grid for 22 hours.  Can you explain the difference for me, please?

MR. HAN:  I apologize.  I guess I caused some confusion.  Didn't sleep well last night.  Too nervous.

[Laughter]

MR. HAN:  Sorry.  I will recap of the outage situation.  In 2006, we have a -- system issues.  We need to take a -- a repairman take the system out of service in that area.  If we do that, we will result in a -- eight-hour outages.  We have to do it really quick.

Instead, we used IPL.  When we used IPL, because it is a scheduled outage so we can lay out the plan ahead of time.  So at the end of the day we have about an hour outage, and actually, the system was connected to the States for two days.  So give us time to do proper things, not instead of eight hour at night to do it.  And -- but we do have outage, because this is a break-before-make system, so the total outage time in 2006 is approximately one hour.

In 2012 we have a similar situation in terms of requirement of outage, and so we did it.  We -- at that time the international power line was out of service, so we took an eight-hour outage during the night.  During that inspection repairman (sic) we found out that there is a part -- it cannot be done within eight hours, so we need to order new parts and do another replacement.

So we put things back -- among other things, we put things back, and then we say we need another eight-hour outage when we order the parts over to do the replacement. And at that time we also talking about the potential replacement of the IPL in 2014 and, therefore, we are thinking if we can -- you know, this is a calculated risk we are going to take for another eight-hour outage.  In two years we take another one is too much for the customers, so we decided we are going to hang on until the new IPL build, then we only take an hour outage instead of eight.  So this is the outage history along this line.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

I wanted to ask a question about the NEB approval which -- for that IPL rebuild which I understand you have received.  Now, is that actually a licence approval for importing the power in?  Is that what that approval is?

MR. KING:  Unfortunately we weren't expecting questions on the NEB approval aspect of it, so the individual who is most familiar with that is not part of the panel.  We can certainly undertake to answer that question for you.

MS. HARE:  I don't know how important it is, because the -- but the real part of the question is to understand, what does the NEB look at when they give approval for that?  Do they look at the economics, do they look at the reliability history?  That is what I am trying to understand.

MR. TAYLOR:  I can tell you that the NEB approval was not an approval for importing power into Ontario.  The approval sought was to construct the line.  And the NEB -- and I am going to have to look into this, but the NEB I don't believe looked into the economics of constructing the line.

MS. HARE:  Maybe in your argument in-chief you could -- unless Mr. Millar knows more about this than I do and we don't need to ask you to do it, but I am trying to understand what it is the NEB approves vis-à-vis what we are asked to approve.

MR. TAYLOR:  We can clarify that in our submissions. In fact, what might be helpful as well is if we file the NEB application with the OEB.

MR. KING:  It is part of the record.

MR. TAYLOR:  Oh, is it already part of the record?

MR. KING:  Yes, it is.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  Well, no, so it is part of the record, so what's part of the record?  The application is part of the record, because I saw that, but in terms of understanding what it is they approved and if they have approved it what do we need to approve is what I am after.

MR. KING:  It is my understanding the NEB approval was not an economic justification or reliability justification, you know.  It is part of international intertie, so their approval on rebuilding as is, you know, similar to as is, and that is their approval process.  Before we could do that we require their approval.

MS. HARE:  So does that mean that they looked at need for the project?  Or need for the intertie?

MR. KING:  I don't think as part of -- the request we had was to rebuild the line, the existing line, in similar capacity, and so they never looked at the need for the line, they never looked at the economic justification or reliability, it was just, okay, well, you have a line, which is what we are arguing here, is a sustaining line, so we just need to replace that line because it is at the end of its useful life.  That is subject to check.  That is my understanding.

MS. HARE:  Okay, thank you.

MS. FRY:  Okay, so obviously you have talked a lot about the benefits to your customer of having the international power line.  Are there any benefits that flow in the other direction across the border to the customers?  Is it Mohawk Power?

MR. BRADBURY:  It is U.S. National Grid, and, no, there are no benefits flowing to the United States under the current licensing arrangement with the National Energy Board.

MS. FRY:  Okay, have there ever been benefits?  Like, were there benefits contemplated in both directions when the line was built?

MR. BRADBURY:  When the line was originally built it had a 25-cycle component.  That line benefited both sides of the river, because the 25-cycle transmission system was international.  The 60-cycle has never benefited the United States, or a customer in the United States.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Thank you.  And so if I am understanding correctly, your company would be paying 100 percent of the cost of the IPL project on both sides of the border?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MS. FRY:  But the assets on the U.S. side of the border would be owned by the U.S. company?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.  We would make a contribution in aid of construction to National Grid to construct --


MS. FRY:  Of 100 percent.

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.

MS. FRY:  So can you just go over why your company would be paying 100 percent of the costs?

MR. KING:  Well, because there is no benefit to the customers, the U.S. customers.  They feel there is no -- they would not make a contribution towards that, is -- the benefit is to the Ontario-based customers.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  And you have probably gone over this before, but what was the year when the possibility of benefits in two directions ceased?

MR. BRADBURY:  It ceased with the Board's decision in 2010, the decision related to Project Fortran, so it was the leave-to-construct application that would have created a synchronous intertie --


MS. FRY:  Yes, but, I mean, before that, if I am understanding you correctly, there was an earlier period when the U.S. company could have had a benefit flowing in their direction.

MR. BRADBURY:  The U.S. company had a benefit flowing in their direction from the 25-cycle transmission system, and the sunset on the 25-cycle transmission was April 2009.

MS. FRY:  Thank you, okay.

Now, there certainly is a lot of evidence that we have seen on why the Queen Street Tower needed to be taken down and replaced.  Can you go over -- but you are obviously doing work on -- you want to do work on other components of the system.

Can you go over why the work is needed on the other components of the system?

MR. BRADBURY:  The other major component of the system is a tower of the same vintage as the Queen Street Tower on the Canadian side.  There is a tower in the Terminal House B, which supports the other end of the wires, we will say, when they cross the border.  That tower is built at the same time in, I think it was 1916, and during our work with National Grid in developing the rebuild project it was determined that that tower as well had reached end of life and could not support the rebuild that we needed.  So there would be identical towers on either side of the river now replacing the two that were built in 1916, one in Canada, one in the United States.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So on the Buffalo tower you are saying you had an assessment done similar to what you had done on the Queen Street Tower.

MR. BRADBURY:  We didn't do the assessment.  I assume the assessment was done by National Grid, but it would have been the same -- in the same nature, it would have been an assessment of the steel and the -- its supporting capabilities.

MS. FRY:  And you received a copy of that assessment.

MR. HAN:  The estimate -- we do not have a copy from National Grid.  One of the elements in discussion is they told us their tower when last examined is in the '80s or '90s, and however, the -- if we do not do the replacement at this time, say in another 25 years that tower is no good anymore, then we end up having to take the whole thing down again, because you just can't hold the wire in the middle of the river.  You have to take the whole thing down again.  That would be another one more time this expense.

So -- and also, the structure we are putting back, because today's technology is a lot -- is quite different from what we had 100 years ago, so it is going to be a very technical challenge to have an existing tower on the US side, have a newer type of tower, a narrow tower on our side.  Technically it is going to be difficult and actually more costly.

So because of the age of the tower and because of the condition of the towers and because of the technical challenges we are facing, we decided to replace both towers at the same time.

MS. FRY:  Yes, okay.  So what I am asking is, just to understand:  Was there an assessment done of the condition of the Buffalo tower?

MR. HAN:  We do not own this tower.  In discussion with the National Grid, they inform us not on paper -- we didn't see anything -- they did have inspection of that tower.  And at that time they say the tower's in reasonably okay shape.  This is 20 years ago.

MR. BRADBURY:  I think what we can do -- we don't -- as far as I am aware we don't have a study or an assessment from National Grid.  We could undertake to ask National Grid, and what basis their assessment of the tower.

MS. FRY:  I guess what I am trying to understand is you made a decision that the Buffalo tower needs replacement at the same time.

MR. BRADBURY:  National Grid as well.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Okay.  So those components of the international power line.  For the Queen Street Tower there was some specific assessment.

So for the remainder of the international power line I am just trying to understand what you based your decision on when you decided that those components needed replacing.

MR. BRADBURY:  Other than the two towers, the only remaining component is the actual wires.  Once the wires come down, they can't go back up.  They have been pre-stressed, so you can't put the same wires back up.  It has to be new wires.

MS. FRY:  Because you are replacing the towers, or just because --


MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.  The wires have to come down in order to get the towers down.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So I am back to the Buffalo tower.

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.

MS. FRY:  So if I am understanding you correctly, at some point the Americans -- I am using that term loosely --


MR. BRADBURY:  Yes.

MS. FRY:  -- told you that the Buffalo Street tower needs replacing; is that correct?

MR. BRADBURY:  They told us it would have to be replaced.  And as Mr. Han was saying, it is not feasible to replace the tower on the Canadian side -- say with an expected 60-, 65-year life -- and leave a tower on the American side with a remaining life of less than, say, 20 years.  Because once you have built it with a large engineered span -- there's 1,700 feet across the Niagara River, so it is a very long span -- in order to do -- so we do our tower, say, in the year 2015, so they come back in the year 2025 and say:  We have to do our tower.  We would have to take it all back down again and start over.

So both towers have to be done in unison.

MS. FRY:  So your decision, if I'm understanding, wasn't really based on the Americans' assessment of the condition of their tower?  You were looking that the two towers were the same age, and therefore, frankly, regardless of any assessment, if I'm understanding you correctly, you decided the Buffalo tower needs replacing; is that right?

MR. BRADBURY:  My understanding is they did assess -- they know the age of the tower and they did do something, whether a formal report or not.  But in our negotiations with National Grid, it was decided that both towers would have to be replaced.

MS. FRY:  And when were those negotiations taking place?  What was the time frame?

MR. BRADBURY:  The negotiations began shortly after the decision on the project Fortran came out.

MS. FRY:  2009, 2010?

MR. BRADBURY:  And we knew we had to do something to sustain what we have.

Because project Fortran would have replaced it all anyway.  It would have been replaced under project Fortran.  That was a subset of project Fortran.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Thank you.

So you were talking about your NEB permit, which says you can use the lines for a limited purpose, and you said that if project Fortran had gone ahead you could have expanded the purpose of the line?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MS. FRY:  So am I correct in taking from that that, regardless of whether it is project Fortran or some other project, if you wanted to expand the purpose of the line it would require additional capital investment?

MR. BRADBURY:  Yes, it would.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Now, you talked about the difficulty of the lead time to order replacement parts for your system?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MS. FRY:  And just to confirm, I take it the type of parts, it would not be practical to keep spares around?

MR. BRADBURY:  It is not practical as -- the main component of a spare would be the 115 to 34.5 kV power transformer, you know, situated at -- either mobilely or fixed.  And it is several million dollars alone just to have the part.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  And do you have some kind of -- presumably you have some kind of agreement with the American authorities that you can use the international power line when you need it?

MR. BRADBURY:  We have an interconnection agreement with National Grid.

MS. FRY:  Thank you, gentlemen.

Mr. Millar, please proceed.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. TAYLOR:  Actually, Madam Chair, would you mind if I redirected on the topic of the IPL?

MS. FRY:  Certainly.

MR. TAYLOR:  All right.  Thank you.  I just have a couple of questions.
Further Examination by Mr. Taylor:

Mr. Han, just for clarification, if the IPL were not constructed and you were to have an unforced outage on the system -- or, sorry, a forced outage on the system, unplanned, how long would it take to -- what would be the minimum amount of time that it would take to restore power?

MR. HAN:  At this point, we are estimating; depends on the location, depends on the structure.  It could be as low as 12 hours and as high as three days.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.

My second question is -- if we could put up from the evidence Exhibit 11, tab 1, schedule 1, page 9.

Mr. Millar was asking questions about the $5.9 million cost to retire the 115 kV line between station 18 and Bertie Hill Tower.  And I think that Mr. Millar suggested or in his question said that the cost could be spread out over time, and I believe the panel agreed with him.

And I just wanted to know what period of time would the removal or could the removal be spread out over.

MR. HAN:  The 31 towers are all tension towers except the Bertie Hill Tower.  To retire the line, from a technical perspective, I want to do that at the same time from a cost perspective, because if you separate the project out over time, the mobilization, I guess, there's a need of major machines.  You need a contractor come in from outside.  The mobilization costs will be very high.

The other one is we also have to build temporary structures to dead-end this, where we stop, and that is additional cost associated with the retirement we don't want to spend.

So it's very likely we are going to do that within one shot, one time.

MR. TAYLOR:  And how long would that take?

MR. HAN:  The retirement of the tower itself probably will take four to six months, but to take out the foundation, it depends on the further assessment, the environmental stuff.  How long it takes at this time I do not have a specific time, but it could be spread out in a year, you know, within one year.  Maybe two at the most.

MR. TAYLOR:  And why is it two years at the most?

MR. HAN:  Because, once again, the mobilization.  And you need a major construction team coming over, and they would have to dig out all these big concrete cubes and then they have to dispose all this stuff, then to haul soil, proper soil from somewhere else to come in here.

So to spread it out, a lot of occasions you need a mobilization cost.  And also you have different contractors supply you soil, that kind of stuff.  That is going to increase your cost.

MR. TAYLOR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

MS. FRY:  Yes, Mr. Taylor, just to clarify, of course at the end of the cross you will have a global opportunity to do redirect, but as you did on this topic, if for any individual topic you would like to do your redirect on that topic at the time, just do continue to speak up.

MR. TAYLOR:  All right.  Thank you.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.

Mr. Millar?
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

I would like to move now to the topic of the Bowen Road line relocation, and maybe the best place to turn to is Staff Interrogatory No.8.

And just to provide some background on this topic, I understand this is a line that you have that -- because the Ministry of Transportation is -- I guess they are moving a highway interchange, and because of that you have to move a portion of your line; is that right?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the Ministry is -- their -- the work is not quite yet underway, but you are anticipating that your work will be completed in 2016; is that right?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  But to date am I correct that the Ministry hasn't started its own work; is that fair?

MR. BRADBURY:  Well, we will have to work in advance of the Ministry.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you do your work first.

MR. BRADBURY:  We would have to be out of their way to allow road construction.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So you will move your line and then I guess decommission the line that is already there or remove it or whatever you do, and then they can move --


MR. BRADBURY:  In likelihood, in my experience and when we don't know the final product we will probably start before them, work in conjunction with them, and wrap it up once they are finished --


MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  But you are still waiting for them to tell you to start working; is that right?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess the best estimates we have right now is they are going to instruct you around the middle of 2016?  Do I have that right?  Or when do you expect they will tell you to start working on this?

MR. BRADBURY:  We expect they will start telling us to work this year.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. BRADBURY:  I think just yesterday or the day before in the local Niagara paper there was an article there that the proponent is making another proposal to the MTO for the interchange.

MR. MILLAR:  The proponent is the Canadian Motor Speedway; is that right?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  They are doing some work there and that requires the interchange to be moved?

MR. BRADBURY:  They're building a speedway.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. KILFOIL:  The MTO is going to upgrade that interchange regardless of what the speedway folks are doing, but the scope and scale is still under discussion between the proponent and the MTO.  So the question isn't are we doing something in 2016, it's what is the nature of the something we know we are doing.  We just don't know the exact details yet.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's helpful.  I don't think I have any more questions on that.

I have some questions on your rate base as it will appear in the bridge and the test years and I guess following the test years.  Mr. Battista gave to you earlier a table that we prepared that -- it is all numbers taken directly from the application.  Do you have copies of that table?  It is just a one-pager.  It shows the capital expenditures and depreciation.

MR. KING:  Yes, we do.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I'd propose to mark that as Exhibit -- I guess it is K1.3, and it is a table of capital expenditures and depreciation.

MS. FRY:  Thank you.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  TABLE OF CAPITAL EXPENDITURES AND DEPRECIATION.

MR. MILLAR:  And I suppose I should just check with you.  Mr. Battista pulled these numbers straight from the application.  I don't know the extent you have had a chance to look at it, but do the numbers look right to you?

MR. KING:  Just for clarification, you are talking about not the sheet that was sent last night but the sheet that was given out half an hour ago.

MR. MILLAR:  That's correct.  This sheet right here.

MR. KING:  We have not checked the numbers.

MR. MILLAR:  Just looking at them here --


MR. KING:  They look reasonable.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I wanted to ask you about -- if you look at your capital expenditures, I guess they're what we would call -- I call them spiky, I guess.  You see in 2014 it is 2.7 million, then it ramps way up to 5.8 million in 2015, and that is because of the IPL; is that right?

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And in fact, it would actually be a little bit higher based on what we discussed earlier about the 1.7 million moving from 2014 to 2015; is that fair?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then for 2016 it is way down to 740, 2017 down to 675, and then it really drops off a cliff after that to 280,000.  I should point out these are capital expenditures, as opposed to strictly rate base additions, but it would it be fair to say that by and large your capital expenditures happen in the same year that they close to rate base?

MR. KING:  Generally speaking --


MR. MILLAR:  Except for 2014, I guess.

MR. KING:  Except for this large project --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.

MR. KING:  -- but generally speaking, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So if we look at the -- we also see the depreciation numbers are provided as well, but just up to the end of the test year, because I think that is what is in the evidence -- what will happen to the depreciation number after 2007 -- after 2016?

MR. KING:  After 2016 depreciation number?

MR. MILLAR:  It will be lower, right?  Is that fair?

MR. KING:  Eventually it will be lower.

MR. MILLAR:  Start -- in fact, starting as early as 2017, '18, and '19?

MR. KING:  I am not sure if 2017 would be lower or not, $675,000 in cap ex, but generally as you get out, further out, it would get lower, but these investments are, you know, long-term assets.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.

MR. KING:  Right.

MR. MILLAR:  But the trend after 2016 is the depreciation number, assuming that the cap ex stays as you've shown it here, will tend to go down.

MR. KING:  The trend after, you know, in the mid-term to long-term would certainly drop.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I don't know if CNPI has thought about this.  Maybe you have, maybe you haven't, but what are your plans after 2016?  Do you expect to be back to the Board with a new cost of service for 2017?

MR. KING:  I would expect after not being in for quite a while we will get direction to file sometime 2018/2019, and we would expect that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So at least high-level planning purposes you are anticipating that --


MR. KING:  Absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  -- by 2018 you will be back in for cost of service?

MR. KING:  '18/'19.  You know, we hadn't -- you know, that is subject to...

MR. MILLAR:  Is it possible to fill out this table, the depreciation number for 2017 to 2020?

MR. KING:  Yeah, we could -- you know, we have forecasting models.  You know, obviously it is not going to be accurate 100 percent, but we can give you our forecast for those numbers, for sure.

MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask you to do that then, please.

MR. KING:  Yes, absolutely.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.  So that will be Undertaking J1.2, and it is to fill out the depreciation line on Exhibit K1.3 for the years 2017 to 2020?

MR. KING:  Correct, to the best of our ability.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. KING:  Yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO FILL OUT THE DEPRECIATION LINE ON EXHIBIT K1.3 FOR THE YEARS 2017 TO 2020.

MR. MILLAR:  All right, let's look at your actual capital expenditures, and I think here we are getting to that chart that we have referenced a couple of times now that has been known only through rumour so far.

MR. KING:  Would you happen to have a hard copy of that?  I've got it on my BlackBerry, but -- oh, sorry.  Okay.  It's on the screen.  I'm fine.

MR. MILLAR:  It's on -- okay.  And we'll provide some for the Board Panel.  We do have a couple of spares if anybody needs them.

MS. FRY:  Is it identical to what we are seeing on the screen?

MR. MILLAR:  I believe it is, yes.

MS. FRY:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  So Madam Chair, this is --


MS. FRY:  Well, I mean, if it is already on the record --


MR. MILLAR:  It is not on the record.

MS. FRY:  Oh, I see.  That's -- okay.

MR. MILLAR:  This is a table prepared by Mr. Battista that takes numbers from the application and from some undertaking responses --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the copy on --


MR. MILLAR:  -- but this table itself is not --


MS. FRY:  -- the copy on the screen is not taken from the record, is --


MR. MILLAR:  That's correct.

MS. FRY:  Oh, okay, yes, please.

MR. MILLAR:  So I suggest we mark that as Exhibit K1.4.  And what will we call this?  A table showing gross fixed assets and rate base.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  A TABLE SHOWING GROSS FIXED ASSETS AND RATE BASE.

MR. MILLAR:  So you have seen this before and you have had a chance to look at it?

MR. KING:  Yeah, we haven't signed off on it, but certainly we saw it, as I said, on our computer screens, but we haven't --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Understood.

MR. KING:  -- it and bopped it and all that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.

And we took the information from this -- I guess the point of this part of the cross is your -- the bottom line of this sheet is -- and we took -- I don't know if I have to take you through all the undertaking responses where we got this information --


MR. KING:  Yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  But your rate base for 2014 is overstated by about $880,000; is that fair?

MR. KING:  Yes, just to cut to it, you know, I guess what we are saying, the 1 million-790 is what was included in rate base, and so when I looked at this I said, well, okay, that shouldn't be in rate base, and that was an oversight on our behalf, and I would basically take half of it out of '14 and half that will go into '15, so I said that makes sense and the bottom line changes because of depreciation that was associated with that.

So from a smell-test perspective I said that makes sense from that 10,000-foot level.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So do you agree that, you know, with the rate base, when you look at the actuals, the rate base is changed.  That has an impact on the revenue requirement, obviously.  Is that fair?

MR. KING:  Yes, of course.

MR. MILLAR:  Can we ask you to update the revenue-requirement work form, you know, with the associated continuity schedules to give us the right numbers?

MR. KING:  Yes, we can.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so that will be Undertaking J -- I think it is 1.4 now -- J1.3, and that is to redo the revenue requirement work form with the associated schedules.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO REDO THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT WORK FORM WITH THE ASSOCIATED SCHEDULES; TO REDO THE REVENUE REQUIREMENT WORK FORM WITH THE ASSOCIATED SCHEDULES AND CLARIFY O&M EXPENSE RE FILLING FOUR VACANT POSITIONS.

MR. KING:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That is very helpful.  Thank you.  I thought that would take us 20 minutes.

MR. KING:  I guess maybe just to go back, so we will check these numbers and if we have any discrepancy in the numbers we will maybe contact Richard directly and work forward that way.  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Understood.  Thank you.

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I am going to move on to a few questions on OM&A.  Madam Chair, I don't know if the Panel had -- that is the end of my capital questions if you had any follow-up there.  But I can move on to O&M.

MS. FRY:  No, we don't have any questions at this point.  So please go ahead.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's turn to, I think, probably Staff Interrogatory 34.  And we gave you a chart to fill out, which you did, which you will see there on page 2.  That's right.

And I guess through an undertaking response, which was JT1.5 -- I don't think you have to pull it up or I'm hoping you don't -- we asked for your actuals on O&M for 2014; do you recall that?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And it's not shown on this chart, but you will see there is the line for 2014 bridge year OM&A, and it is at $1.8 million?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  This is on the sheet that is on the screen right now.

MR. KING:  Yes, okay.

MR. MILLAR:  We asked you for the actuals, and the actuals are just under 1.6 million; is that correct?

MR. KING:  Correct, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So the difference is about $205,000?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And we asked you what was the cause of that.  And maybe it does make sense to pull this up, if you have it handy, but it was at Undertaking JT1.5.  We asked you why were you off, what was the problem, and I think you gave us two responses.

One was that you got, I guess, a property tax refund that you weren't expecting; is that right?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Can you tell me a little bit more about that?  What happened there?

MR. KING:  There was some -- we challenged some of our assessments and we realized over the years we have been paying too much property tax on some of our transmission property.  And we got a refund, a one-time refund, and you will see -- sorry.

We actually apparently sold a piece of property and we were still paying taxes on it.  So I think, as you see, on a go-forward basis our property taxes are lower than they previously were.

MR. MILLAR:  That was my question.  You described it as a one-time refund of $61,000 approximately.

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You are not going to get that same refund in 2015 or 2016?

MR. KING:  Unfortunately not.

MR. MILLAR:  You say you have already updated your property tax expense to reflect the fact that this asset is no longer being taxed?

MR. KING:  I believe the number that is in the rate application going forward is the correct number.

MR. MILLAR:  Can I ask you to check that to make sure?

MR. KING:  We can confirm that.

MR. MILLAR:  I will give an undertaking number, just so I don't forget it.  JT1.4, and that is to confirm that your property tax expense is correct.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO CONFIRM THAT PROPERTY TAX EXPENSE IS CORRECT.

MR. KING:  Yes, for sure.

MR. MILLAR:  The other source of the variance of $205,000 related to four retirements and resignations from your operations group in 2014; is that right?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, is it four retirements plus four resignations, or is it four in total?

MR. HAN:  Four in total.

MR. MILLAR:  Have you filled those vacancies?

MR. HAN:  One is being filled -- one has been filled.  And -- because this is time equivalent, because the Tx and the Dx share in the same personnel.

And the other one is being interviewed right now, and one more is ready to post.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So the four -- there is four vacancies in total.  And we haven't really talked about this a lot, but of course your transmission and distribution side share people.

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So there is an allocation between the two sides of the business?

MR. HAN:  It is not allocation.  On the operating side people actually charge their real time.

MR. MILLAR:  So it allocated on that basis, on a real-time basis?

MR. HAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So you filled one of the positions.  Are you able to tell me -- the expense is $142,000 a year, we are talking.  Is -- the position you filled, does this person work mostly for Tx or mostly for Dx?

MR. HAN:  Mostly for Dx.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Rather than going through this position-by-position, is your O&M expense for 2015 and 2016 overstated because you haven't filled all those positions yet?

MR. HAN:  We examined the numbers.  We can clarify in 2015 and based on our current schedule, the O&M cost is approximately $40,000 over.  In other words, by the time we get all the people filled in, we probably have spent $40,000 less on the Tx side.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, was that 2015?

MR. HAN:  2015.  By 2016 it is back to normal.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Could I ask, as part of Undertaking J1.3 that you've already taken, could that be reflected in your revenue requirement work form?  Is that something you can --


MR. KING:  Yes, we can.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  So that is not a new undertaking; that is just added to J1.3.

Okay.  Let's talk briefly about the 25-cycle transmission system that's come up a few times in our discussions today.  I think the best place to go for this is Exhibit E, tab 4 -- pardon me, Exhibit E4, tab 3, schedule 1.  And there is -- if you go to -- page 2 actually is probably a good place to get started on that.  You will see there's a table at the bottom of that, page 2.  There we go.

Just to remind ourselves what this is, I guess this was a part of your transmission system that you retired in 2009; is that correct?

MR. BRADBURY:  I will give you -- before you get into the details, I will give you a little bit of background of the 25-cycle.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.

MR. BRADBURY:  So the 25-cycle system originated at both Sir Adam Beck and the Rankin generating stations in Niagara Falls.

CNPI, amongst other assets, had an old steel line, a steel tower line that passes through Niagara Falls, through Marineland Park, through Chippewa, crosses the Welland River and follows the Niagara Parkway into our station 18. And then, as I described previously, at station 18 it pairs up with the 60-cycle system and goes to the border.

Up until the sunset and the wind-down of the 25-cycle, Canadian Niagara Power Transmission maintained that 25-cycle, and it connected in -- it is an interconnected system on both sides of the border; a very intricate interconnected system I might add.

It involved OPG, Hydro One and us.

So we have a number of towers that pass through various types of landscapes.  Our station 11 in Niagara Falls borders -- directly across the street from Marineland.  We own the corridor through Marineland.  We have a -- the towers went through there.  We go through the community or village of Chippewa and we pass through a residential area.  And then we go into basically a sort of vacant area, vacant lands along the back of the Niagara Parkway, and then we start coming into residential areas again.

So various portions of the line are in different geography and have different, say, immediate issues associated with them.

So it is a line that, from my understanding, was built in the 1930s and operated up until roughly 2009.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much for that.

And you are taking down this line.  It is no longer in service, and you are in the process of removing the towers; is that correct?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you look at that chart that I have in front of you on page 2, it looks like you started the process in 2010 and you currently expect to finish it in 2018?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And just to be clear, these are -- these costs are expensed; is that right?  They would be part of your O&M budget?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We will note, if you look at the chart, that starting in the test year, 2015, you really start to ramp up the rate of removals.  You started at ten per year in 2010, then it went up to 15, and now you are doubling the rate for 2015 and beyond; is that right?

MR. BRADBURY:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I understood from both your evidence and the interrogatories and the technical conference that the chief reason behind this was some safety concerns that you were having; is that right?

MR. BRADBURY:  Well, that and the fact it needs to come down, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I mean the acceleration.

MR. HAN:  Yes.  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Can you tell me a bit more about the -- what are the safe -- what is the reason for increasing the speed at which you are taking down this line?

MR. HAN:  At the very beginning the couple years when we started this project we say we take time to take them down, but once we get into the residential area, this is like near the residential area and literally just adjacent to people's backyard.  We identify some of the towers -- the conductors on the towers are broken because it is out of service and they are leaning there and there are no support, and then we start to accelerate.  We decided -- in 2012 we decided we have got to move this thing faster, get them out of the way, and before they cause some kids playing around that neighbourhood causing some issues there.

And then in the following years we have an incident we have -- you know, there is a -- birds in that neighbourhood, so -- but anyway, we went up in the tower, we took some picture, we see the tower itself start to rust through, you know, some of the members of the tower start to rust through, and we say that is a bad sign, and we need to get this thing down ASAP, but consider the cost and the labour we can afford at the time, we decided this is the proper schedule to get it going.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, when did you start noticing the rust issues that you mentioned?

MR. HAN:  The rust issue was identified I think in 2013, when the line down.  '13, 2013, and when we have -- and also there is the environmental issue of the birds flying around there and they build nests on those towers too.

MR. KILFOIL:  Raptors are building their nest in these towers, and they're...

MR. HAN:  So there was -- and also, that happened to be the time the environmental people -- the Ministry of Environment started to tightening up the rules there as well.  So whatever we do we have to, you know -- because there is a species at risk issue there, so we need to investigate, and so -- and there is a bird protection, and the longer these things start living there the more costs later on we are going to get out of them.

MR. MILLAR:  And you were noticing these problems as early as 2013, if not before?

MR. HAN:  Before is the conductor broken.  Those are the things notified, because we didn't go up because as the line is out of service we do not go to inspect the tower any more, but line, if it is broken, we certainly have to deal with it.

MR. MILLAR:  Did I hear you to say that you didn't -- the reason -- don't let me put words in your mouth, but the reason you are doubling the removal starting in this -- the test year is that your O&M budget from years previous didn't -- wouldn't cover that, there was a cash problem; is that --


MR. KING:  No, no, I don't think it is a cash problem.  You know, we are -- I think as Mr. Han just explained, we are in a situation now, we are in residential areas and we are concerned -- we basically just want to get the towers down, and, you know, from this day forward -- and, you know, we accelerated the program, you know, with regard to the increasing costs.  You know, looking forward to 2019 we expect to be back in, so these costs will come out of our revenue requirement at that point in time.  So it is not about the costs, it is about getting the towers down right now.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, we asked you about this in the technical conference, and I don't know if you have the transcript in front of you -- you probably don't need it, but we asked you about this around page 35.  If it's available to pull up on the screen, that is great.  If not, I think we can get by without it because I can read you -- yeah, here we go, so page 35.

MR. KING:  Even before you go to that, I do recall Jie speaking about -- Mr. Han speaking about something -- he used the word "budget", but the reality of it, it is a public safety issue.  If we want to get the towers down, that is what we want to do, and if at that point in time there was a need to take more towers down, we would have taken more towers down.  That is the bottom line of that.

MR. MILLAR:  I think I may actually have the wrong page.

MR. KILFOIL:  But I do -- yeah, you will find the page, but I do recall seeing Mr. -- hearing Mr. Han say something about budget and that, and I --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, you know I have to ask anyways.

MR. KING:  For sure, for sure, I am more just directly to it.  I apologize for that.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'm sorry, it is actually page 45/46, not 35.

MR. KING:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  But I see you are anticipating my questions.  That's --


MR. KING:  Well, no, I recall from the technical conference -- that is one of the moments I recall saying, mmm, I don't know.  That is probably not what I would have said.

MR. MILLAR:  All right.  Well, let's --


MR. KING:  And, you know, I apologize, I am just being straightforward with you.

MR. MILLAR:  Just for fun let's review it with you anyways.

MR. HAN:  The first time at this meeting I don't know what words to say, what words shouldn't say.

MR. MILLAR:  I am not saying there is a problem.  I just want -- we can clarify this now.  So why don't we look at the bottom of page 45.  This is a response from Mr. Han.  And he says starting at line 26:

"So those are the things that concern us, that the more and more public safety things put on the table and we decided to start 2012 is not only the last couple of years, we started that, and also, that has to balance with the budget, considering, you know, whether we can do this within our financial means, how fast we can do it.  So that is where we came up with the plan."

And I guess you already know what I am going to ask here, but CNPI significantly overearned over the past at least four or five years; is that fair?

MR. KING:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And we have the numbers on -- in Staff IR 45, but they range -- you earned something like between 16 and 21 percent over the last five years.  We can go to the numbers if you want, but it is in that range; is that fair?

MR. KING:  I assume so.  We have overearned --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We can look if we have to, but you overearned for sure.  So money should not have been a problem in terms of removing these poles if there was a safety issue; is that fair?

MR. KING:  I just want to be very clear for the record.  If there was a public safety issue or if -- even if in billing the project -- and we have concerns of rely billing (sic) that, you know, we will spend the money to do that, so there was no holding back money because of that, you know.  I can --


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  That's -- I accept that answer.  Why didn't you take out 30 poles in 2014?  Or did you?  It is actually shown as a forecast.  I don't know how many you actually took out.  Is 15 the right number for 2014?

MR. HAN:  The 2014 we -- can you bring that sheet back?  Because when we prepared this number is already planned in there, it is halfway through.

MR. MILLAR:  So are you on -- 2014 is over, so --


MR. HAN:  We're -- 2014, when we prepare the application, we are doing the 15 structures.

MR. MILLAR:  So as far as you know, 15 was the number from 2014.  I guess my question is, why didn't you do 30?  What changed between 2014 and 2015?

MR. KILFOIL:  From a planning perspective we -- when we plan our projects out for -- especially work like this, it's capital-light, even though I know we are expensing it, there is a lead time.  We've got to make sure it fits into our resources and our own internal budgeting year over year.

So when we identified the problem with the corrosion and so on we are already into 2013, so the first budget year available to us for our own internal operating process was 2015 to expand the scope of the project.  Like, '14 was already committed, you know, and locked and firmed up, shall we say, it's already approved within our own internal management, so 2015 was the first year available to us after '15 (sic) to change the scope of the project and have it fit within our own internal budgets.

MR. MILLAR:  Is this work you do yourself or you -- I assume you contract this work?

MR. HAN:  We contract it out.  There is another element of retirement, is you do need to do, you know, engineering design.  It is not go, like, go there, you take it down.  You do have to do engineering design because these towers you have to dead end properly, safely in a place.

So it is not like we decide to change to 15 to 30 tomorrow, well, let's go to do that, so we do have to have engineering staff to go there, and also, this is all contractor people.  These -- they already scheduled those time for us to say, here is what we will give you the time for.  We already booked them.  So if we want to dramatically change, that is why we started in '15, those two years '14 and -- '13 and '14, those two years are preparing the transition time.  When we identify the issue, we say:  Let's do it as much as we can over the next two years.  And then we will move on.  This is technical restriction, not money restriction.  And then we move on to see whether we can do it, get additional resource to do that from a contractor and engineering perspective.

MR. MILLAR:  You weren't able to get that sorted out until 2015, I guess?

MR. HAN:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess this is an obvious question, but to the extent that you went back to, say, 15 poles as opposed to 30, let's imagine the Board said -- just entirely as a hypothetical -- we don't approve you speeding this up.  Stick with 15.  I assume it would be -- I am not going to ask you for an undertaking or anything, but the expense would obviously be less.  And if it went from 30 to 15 -- I guess you have a bunch of numbers from 15 -- for 15 it costs between 80- and $100,000; is that --


MR. HAN:  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  Would that be approximately right now?

MR. HAN:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

Madam Chair, I am moving to an entirely new area.

MS. FRY:  So you are finished OM&A?

MR. MILLAR:  I am finished OM&A, so this might be a good time for a break.

MS. FRY:  Your on-schedule performance is quite remarkable, Mr. Millar.

We will take lunch break now, so we will come back at 1:30.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:25 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:34 p.m.

MS. FRY:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar, whenever you are ready.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and good afternoon, panel.  I had a couple of questions for you to get us started this afternoon on the FORTRAN project, so why don't we move to those.  And just again to remind ourselves what this project was, I understand that the FORTRAN project was something that CNPI had proposed, the object of which was to create a proper synchronous intertie with New York; is that right?

MR. LAVOIE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And the cost of that project was projected to be about $33 million?

MR. LAVOIE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you filed a leave-to-construct application with the Board for that project, and in 2009 the application was denied?

MR. LAVOIE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess there were a number of findings, but essentially I think the Board found that there were insufficient benefits resulting from the project?  Would that be a fair five-word overview of the decision?

MR. LAVOIE:  Yes, I presume that when you say "benefits" it is what would be considered in a leave to construct?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. LAVOIE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, thank you.  Now, I guess the difficulty that CNPI found itself in was that you had already actually incurred some expenses related to that project, some studies, I believe, and perhaps some other things, but one way or another you had already spent approximately $1.5 million on the FORTRAN project?

MR. LAVOIE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And you weren't sure what to do with that, so I think you approached the Board after the project was denied and you sought approval to create a deferral account into which you would put that money; is that correct?

MR. LAVOIE:  We did apply for that.

MR. MILLAR:  And ultimately the Board -- the Board denied that request; is that right?

MR. LAVOIE:  The Board did deny the request of the deferral account.

MR. MILLAR:  And I think -- correct me if I am wrong -- the reasoning was, I think, that if there was money you thought you couldn't handle within your budget you should have approached the Board before spending it?  Is that a fair characterization, or would you put it somewhat differently?

MR. LAVOIE:  No, I think the decision made reference to the fact that if -- the magnitude of the spending and the project itself, we could have applied for a deferral account ahead of that spending, and since this was after the spending it was denied.  They made no comment on recoverability or a comment on the prudence of the costs themselves.

MR. MILLAR:  And in this application that is before the Board today, you are proposing to recover over a period of ten years, I guess, but two of those years would be covered by this application, a total of $1.2 million for the FORTRAN project?

MR. LAVOIE:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, what is the difference between 1.2 and 1.5, other than .3?

MR. LAVOIE:  Seeking only the external costs, so there was an internal cost component of that that determined would not be put forth for recovery, and there was a tax -- a tax rebate that was...

MR. KING:  R&D credit.

MR. LAVOIE:  R&D credit that was also taken into account.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Ultimately the FORTRAN matter may be largely for argument, but I wanted to be fair to you to put these questions to you beforehand.

What's changed since the Board denied your request for a deferral account?  Is there anything different now that the Board should consider?

MR. LAVOIE:  I think we certainly wanted to make it clear that we understand the leave-to-construct decision.  It talks about the fact that the Board denies the project on the basis of the leave-to-construct decision.  However, we wanted to make it -- we didn't find anything in the deferral account denial or anything else that we have received as a review of the prudence of the costs of preparing for the leave to construct.  That is an activity that was significant, as we have put forth in front of the Board, and in our view it is a fundamental transmission system planning activity that utilities should undertake.  The transmission system code in section 3(b)(1) talks about the requirement for transmitters to look for ways of improving or -- maintaining or improving the reliability and/or quality of the transmission system, and certainly the FORTRAN project did talk about a number of benefits.

And so that activity in itself, being able to bring that question to the Board, does take a fair bit of resources and takes an effort by the utility.  So -- and in and of itself that process does have a crossroads, that which being if the Board approves the project it would continue and if it does not it would not continue.

So we don't feel that activity of preparing -- certainly contemplating projects such as FORTRAN or preparing all the necessary documentation for a leave to construct is anything but a necessary and important aspect of a utility -- good utility practice.

So that is what we are asking for here, is the Board to consider and turn their minds to that activity of preparing for a project such as FORTRAN and the costs leading up to that leave to construct, and that being a prudent activity, we're asking for relief from it -- for it.

MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  I don't think it will come as any surprise to you or to your counsel in any event that one of the things Staff is likely to discuss in its final arguments is a rate retroactivity issue, in that you are seeking to recover, at least it seems to us in 2015/2016, an expense that was incurred way back in 2 -- whenever it was, 2008, 2009, 2010, and I am not sure I actually have a question for you about that.  It is more a bit of a heads-up, I think.  But I did want to at least provide an opportunity, if there was any information you thought that we were missing as to why there is not a retroactivity issue here I would be happy to hear it now, or maybe it can be in your argument in-chief, and if maybe Mr. Buonaguro wants to jump in that is fine as well.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  I think you are right.  It is largely argument, but I would point out that at the time that the deferral account was requested as part of the argument process the amounts were actually being recorded in account 2055 as preliminary costs, and that is part of the submission phase, is CNPI did concede that it didn't matter to it whether or not the costs would be accounted for in a separate deferral account or remain in account 2055 as preliminary costs.

So, I mean, that is from EB-2010-0159, reply submissions of Canadian Niagara Power Incorporated dated July 9th, 2010.  So it is not the case that these were expenses that weren't being recorded anywhere.  They were already been recorded in account 2055 in the normal course, and CNPI had brought forward the suggestion that they be recorded in a special deferral account in order to be brought forward further in time than they would normally, but absent that they were continued to be recorded in 2005 for disposition later on.

So again, it is mostly for argument, because that is part of the record from that proceeding, and it is a matter of legal interpretation, but to be helpful I thought I would pipe in with that.

MR. MILLAR:  But I agree, and that is very helpful.  I think to the extent you weren't already on notice, I think it is fair to say that CNPI know that this is an issue, so you'll be dealing with that in your argument in-chief?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I will certainly be touching on it, and we will be happy to hear your --


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, I'm sure you'll hear from us, but, okay.  Thank you.  I don't have any further questions on FORTRAN.  I don't know if the panel have any --


MS. FRY:  The panel has some questions --


MS. HARE:  I do, actually.  It is more than just FORTRAN, so what I understand you to be saying, Mr. Buonaguro, is that it has been sitting in an account and that account has never been disposed of because Canadian Niagara Power hasn't been in since 2002, so now my question is broader:  Do you have other amounts in accounts that have not been disposed of for 13 years?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Maybe I -- I'm sure the panel will correct me if I am wrong, but it is not -- it is not -- it is costs that were made in contemplation of a capital project, which then go into CWIP, and then if the project doesn't come to fruition like it did in this case then there is an accounting treatment of it which is continued on now and which they're proposing to be made part of rates, so --


MS. FRY:  Are you earning a return on CWIP now?  No.

MR. KING:  No, we are not.  It is just sitting in a CWIP account.  So there is no return being earned on CWIP, and to answer your question directly, no, we have no other type of amounts or dollars or accounts.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. FRY:  Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I think we can move on from Fortran if there are no further questions about that.

I think we can move on to my final area, and this relates to customer delivery point performance standards. And this area, I confess, is a little bit new to me, so I may ask you to walk me through a few things.

But as I understand it, the standards originate from the Transmission System Code, and what that requires –- specifically, I guess, it is section 4.5.1 -- it requires that each transmitter have a Board-approved document which sets out its performance standards that will apply to customer delivery -- at the customer delivery point level; is that right?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And because of this requirement, you have filed a proposal that you are seeking to have the Board approve through this application?

MR. KILFOIL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And as I understand it, essentially what you have done is you've really copied Hydro One's performance standards; is that the easiest way to put it?

MR. KILFOIL:  Well, to be slightly more specific, in order to come up with targets you have to have some reasonable science behind why are you selecting these targets.  The pool of assets we have is so small that we don't have a representative sample even if we use all of our assets, whereas Hydro One, with a much greater pool of assets -- and when they came in with their filing of their customer point standards, they have a large enough pool that the numbers are statistically meaningful.

So for us, rather than just inventing a number, we said:  Well, at least Hydro One's numbers had some science behind them.  Plus because they are our main supplier, we are very much anchored to their performance with our performance.

So using their numbers just makes sense.

MR. MILLAR:  Can I -- why don't we -- maybe the best way we can talk about this is to get some paper in front of us.  In that light, can I ask you to turn up Staff Interrogatory No. 23?

Okay.  And actually page 3 of that document, there is a table.  There it is right there.

So this is a table that you prepared for -- in response to an interrogatory, but I think it sets out some of this to give us something to talk about.

You will see there is -- I guess there is a yellow-greenish section and then a purplish section.  The first, you will see at the top, says "Historic DP outage frequency."  So that is historic delivery point outage frequency; do you see that?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  You have that for your station 17, 18 and then all of CNPI.  There is the three separate charts.

And if I look through that -- let's just take station 17, for example -- what you are showing here is -- you go through 2009 to 2013 -- the number of outages you had at that station; is that correct?

MR. KILFOIL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So you had zero in the first three years and then two in 2012 and one in 2013, and then all you've done is you have taken the average at the bottom; is that right?

MR. KILFOIL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And then if we look at the average target and the maximum target, I understand this is data you took from Hydro One; is that right?

MR. KILFOIL:  These are the targets that we selected matching Hydro One's targets, which they based on their historical data.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  So you are proposing them as your targets, but the number 1.1, you got that from Hydro One?

MR. KILFOIL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess what that shows is Hydro One's average for number of outages for -- is it does on a by-station element -- by station or by element?  Or how are these broken down?

MR. KILFOIL:  They are done by customer delivery point.

MR. MILLAR:  By delivery point?  Of course.  You can tell I haven't worked with this very often.

So for Hydro One, the average, is that a five-year average or do they do a ten-year average?

MR. KILFOIL:  They are not saying that is their average; they are saying your five-year average performance target is this number.

MR. MILLAR:  That is your target?  Okay.  We will get to how they build the target in a moment.

The next column over is "Maximum target."  I wasn't quite sure what that meant.  Is that the maximum number of outages any delivery point should have in a year?

MR. KILFOIL:  My understanding is if in any one year you have more than that threshold number, you should react.  If you are going -– like, what they are trying to do is they are trying to say with the five-year average target thing:  If your performance year over year is above, in this case, 1.1, you should be doing something to at least explain these numbers.  And if you have got a real system deficiency, correct these numbers.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I understand that.

MR. KILFOIL:  The 3.5 is more of an acute thing.  If you have it in one year and you can't explain why it is happening, you have got yourself an outlier, you need to start doing something about it.

MR. MILLAR:  Why is it done as a fraction, 3.5?  I guess if it is more than 3?

MR. KILFOIL:  I think it is because outages come in whole numbers.  I think rather than saying more than 3, I think there's --


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  3.5.  It is like they do the over/under on sports betting.  Okay.  That's how I think of all things.

[Laughter]

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And again, that number is taken from -- you copied Hydro One numbers?

MR. KILFOIL:  The target is matching Hydro One's target, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  It shows there is a -- there is a five-year average at the bottom.  The average wouldn't apply to the maximum target, would it?  Is that a year-over-year?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes.  I guess I just repeated the table for consistency of presentation.

MR. MILLAR:  But properly the 3.5 shouldn't -- you don't look at the average for maximum?

MR. KILFOIL:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And again, just sticking with the example, if we used a historic delivery point outage duration, I think this is fairly self-explanatory.  This just measures the minutes you're out in any particular year?

MR. KILFOIL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Again, if you look at historic -- the first column, those are your numbers?  So the 580 minutes out in 2012 and the 60 in 2013, those are CNPI's numbers?

MR. KILFOIL:  Experience at station 17, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And you've done the average there at the bottom.  And then when we look at the target, the 22 minutes and the 140 minutes, those are the numbers you took from Hydro One?

MR. KILFOIL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I think you spoke to this a little bit before, but what happens when -- let's look at the outage frequency, for example.  You have got a target there of 1.1.  What happens if you exceed 1.1?  What does that mean?

MR. KILFOIL:  What that means is that under the definition further in the document where they talk about outliers, that delivery point is now an outlier on performance and a study has to been done to explain why those outages are occurring.  It doesn't automatically mean you're going to fix it, but it means you need to do an analysis to understand why it is that number.

MR. MILLAR:  It means you have to take a look at it, I guess?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Now, I want to discuss with you, just so you know where I'm going, the -- and it would be the same story under "Maximum target"?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  If you exceeded 3 --


MR. KILFOIL:  It is a trigger that now it is time to look at the delivery point.

MR. MILLAR:  A trigger for review?  Not necessarily any remedial action, but to take a look?

MR. KILFOIL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I wanted to ask you about the suitability of Hydro One -- not Hydro One's methodology but Hydro One's targets for your system, and to get an understanding of why you went to that.

So first let's look under the -- under the "Outage frequency index," your five-year average is 0.6, whereas the Hydro One target, anyway, is around 1.1; you see that?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  At least for your averages for the last five years, you're comfortably under the target?

MR. KILFOIL:  For purpose of identifying outliers, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, I just have to -- here we go. It might be helpful for us to look at -- there's appendix B to this -- under this interrogatory response, so appendix B to Staff 23.

You actually provided us with Hydro One's -- with their -- sorry, we provided you with it, I guess.  These are the performance standards that Hydro One uses.

MR. KILFOIL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  This is what you looked to for guidance to set up your own system, right?

MR. KILFOIL:  To set those targets.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  And this was something that Hydro One -- just for background -- this was Hydro One's proposal and application to the Board, which the Board approved?

MR. KILFOIL:  In 2008.  That's right.

MR. MILLAR:  2008, right.  And not unreasonably you're looking to them for some guidance as to how to do it.  So is what you modelled yours on?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry to interrupt.  I am just looking for the reference.  You mentioned appendix B to the interrogatory and we can't find anything there.  I just wanted to clarify the reference.  I know that there was something sent out last night.  I think that might be it.

MR. MILLAR:  No.  In fact, this is a -- this was an appendix we sent with the question, and it wasn't necessarily reproduced with the answer.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  So it is not an interrogatory response, but it would be in the original interrogatory?

MR. MILLAR:  It was the question.  Yes, the interrogatory question included an appendix.  And it may not have been reproduced with the answer.

MR. KILFOIL:  The interrogatory question asked us to confirm if the appendix values were the values we used.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, and we --


MR. KILFOIL:  But we weren't provided with the actual -- the hydro delivery point standards are not in evidence.

MR. MILLAR:  I -- anyway, we don't have it here, but I believe we filed it with our question, and it didn't get reproduced with the answer, but that's okay.  We do have -- we do have -- we have some hard copies here, so maybe we can work with that.  You would be familiar with the document.  Is that fair?  You've used it to set up your own system, so...

MR. KILFOIL:  Some time ago, yes, but --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, why don't we -- let me show it to you, and we will see where we get.

MR. KILFOIL:  Okay.

MR. MILLAR:  Unfortunately we only have two copies.  Is it okay, Madam Chair, if we ask you unfortunately to share a copy and we can let the witness panel see the other copy?  I thought we had access to it here, but unfortunately it --


MS. FRY:  Yeah, we could --


MR. MILLAR:  -- it seems that we don't, so...

MS. FRY:  -- cope with that.

MR. MILLAR:  And just I guess -- we might as well mark it as an exhibit just so there is no confusion on that.

MS. FRY:  Yes, we should.

MR. MILLAR:  So that will be K1.5.  It will be Hydro One's customer delivery point performance standards.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  HYDRO ONE'S CUSTOMER DELIVERY POINT PERFORMANCE STANDARDS.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Depending on how much you are going into this, we can get it on the screen, I think.  I did find it in the WebDrawer.  It is in the WebDrawer, but I just have to get it on to this computer.  I don't know where you are going --


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I have a few questions about it.  I --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Okay.  You start and --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I'll start --


MR. BUONAGURO:  -- we will work on putting it on the screen.

MR. MILLAR:  I know you are a wizard at this sort of thing, so if you can find it that is all the better.

You have seen this document before?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes, I have.  At the time when our delivery standard draft was prepared I was using this as a reference --


MR. MILLAR:  Okay, perfect.  Could I ask you to turn to page 4.  And you will see there is a heading 2.2, "performance standards to maintain historical delivery point performance individual CDPP standards" and it says:

"In this component customer delivery point performance standards are intended to maintain the historical reliability performance levels of each customer delivery point.  This is done by identifying customer delivery points with deteriorating trends in reliability performance irrespective of whether they are satisfactory performance under the group CDPP standards."

And that is a standard that is described elsewhere.

"In order to identify customer delivery points with deteriorating trends in reliability performance, a performance baseline trigger for the frequency and duration of forced momentary and sustained interruptions is established for each delivery point based on that delivery point's historic 1991 to 2000 average performance plus one standard deviation."

So you would have been familiar with that?  Or you had read that and you can see it now?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes, I had read that.

MR. MILLAR:  So I guess my question is -- and this isn't necessarily meant as a critique, but it seems to me what Hydro One did is they looked at their delivery points, their actual delivery points, and then they were able to craft a number based on the actual experience of those delivery points, and as they say in this -- in this document, they want to at least maintain the historical reliability of their delivery points.  Is that a fair way to characterize it?

MR. KILFOIL:  Well, they have sort of two different ways that they are using to measure when a customer delivery points needs attention.  One is if their averages are getting worse at that particular point or if that station is having numbers above those targets, similar ones we were talking about a short time ago.

Like, this one here is talking about the historical -- looking at each delivery point as its own entity, but there is sort of an inlier versus outlier aspect to this.  You are an outlier if you are -- you are an outlier of concern if you are simply above that brightline number like the 1.1 or the 22, but you are also an inlier problem if your year-over-year reliability is deteriorating, so we -- and in our delivery point standards we use a similar methodology, so that table you are quoting is one of our two ways we identify a delivery point that needs attention.

If you look further into our document it talks about looking at the historical performances as well.

MR. MILLAR:  I see.  So the 1.1 I was pointing to in Staff 22 or 23 or whatever it was, that number, that 1.1, doesn't correlate with the section that I just read to you from their -- from that document?

MR. KILFOIL:  I don't believe so.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay, so the 1.1 I was referring to, that is not based on Hydro One's own data with its outages?

MR. KILFOIL:  I would expect that their targets were probably selected as a result of reviewing their own data for their whole system, so, yes, I would say it is based on their data but in aggregate.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, that's -- maybe that's a better way of looking at it.  Wouldn't it be better for you to use your own data to set your targets?

MR. KILFOIL:  As I said -- as we said in evidence when we filed this and earlier, we just don't have enough things.  Like, it's hard to do much of an extrapolation from one or two data points.  We don't have enough assets, we don't -- the performance -- and to large degree when we do have a problem in our transmission system it's because of our interconnection with Hydro One and the problems they are experiencing.  We are such a tiny portion of the system as a whole that you can't -- it's hard to extrapolate from the data we see for just our own piece of the system.

MR. MILLAR:  When you say "not enough data", it is not a question of the number of years you have, is it?  It is just that there are only so many elements on your system that actually -- you have only got two delivery points, don't you?

MR. KILFOIL:  Correct.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So it's not a time thing, it is a number of delivery points.

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  So help me out with this.  If you look again at Station 17 -- and I'm sorry, I made Mr. Buonaguro pull up the Hydro One but now I want to go back to the Staff interrogatory that we were discussing, Staff 23, again, that chart on page 3 of the interrogatory response.  That is it right there.

So you will see under "outage frequency" your target essentially will be 1.1, and at least for the last five years you have been comfortably under that.  Is that fair?

MR. KILFOIL:  Well, in the first of two ways we measure the performance at that delivery point we would say that .6 is less than 1.1.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.

MR. KILFOIL:  Therefore this delivery point is not an outlier problem.  However, if you look at section 5 of our submission, the performance standards identify inliers, we look at -- if you just take these five years and look at them as a pattern we can see the performance year over year is getting worse, and they would be identified as a performance inlier that now requires attention just because of what is happening in 2012 and 2013 compared to previous history.

MR. MILLAR:  If you go across to the outage duration  -- maybe this gets to your point -- at least for your five-year average you're well above the targets that Hydro One has.  You're at 128 and the average is supposed to be about 22; is that right?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes, the target -- we are in excess of the outlier target in 22.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So under this scenario this trigger is a review; is that right?

MR. KILFOIL:  Correct.  And it was as a result of that kind of review that suggests, you know, amongst other reason this is the reason why we need our IPL back, because that is -- the lack of IPL is what has caused that increase in --


MR. MILLAR:  That is where you got the 580, right?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yeah.  But that is a retroactive argument, because we had already begun the process by the time the data was available to -- we had already begin the decision to replace the IPL by the time the data showed up to sort of demonstrate why it was required.

MR. MILLAR:  Do you foresee a time when you might move to using your own data as opposed to the numbers you take from Hydro One for a chart like this?  I bring this up because Great Lakes Power also brought their plan to us, and they did -- at least in the short-term they were doing something very similar to you.  They were essentially just taking Hydro One's stuff and using that.  But they made a commitment going forward that once they had a longer series of data they would start using their own numbers for this type of thing so that they were better able to track against their own system as opposed to Hydro One's because although obviously there would be some similarities there would be some differences as well.

Is that something CNPI sees as a possibility as well, or is it since you only have the two delivery points it's just, it's never going to be feasible?

MR. KILFOIL:  I don't think you can statistically project from two data points no matter how long we have the data or over what longitudinal time period.  I don't think it is ever going to be statistically useful as using Hydro One's much broader set of data for stations like this and delivery points like this.  It is not a function of time, it is not a function of effort, it is just a function of the size of the system.

MR. MILLAR:  Imagine, then, that you have a declining trend -- let's again look at Station 17.  It is a good example, and again on the outage frequency.  Just imagine you have a declining trend, it looks like things are getting worse, but at least on this comparator you are still well within the average target.

So what takes precedence, then?  Would you have to do a review or would you not have to do a review?

MR. KILFOIL:  Based on the five-year data here we would have to do a review because it fails the one deviation test that's described in our inlier -- if you read section 5 of our submittal --


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MR. KILFOIL:  -- it basically -- if you do -- if you do the math to figure out the one standard deviation and so on, as of 2012 we are now outside of that one standard deviation, and that triggers a review anyways.  We are still under 1.1 --


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.

MR. KILFOIL:  -- but we are getting worse.  Therefore, we need to do a review.

MR. MILLAR:  But those are two different things, right?  First there is being under 1.1, and then there is being worse.  So would you have to do a review under either scenario?

MR. KILFOIL:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So --


MR. KILFOIL:  Either/or.

MR. MILLAR:  So if you are getting worse but you are below the 1.1 or below -- you haven't triggered it under the 1.1 with the standard deviation -- if you understand my meaning, which is inelegantly expressed -- you would still have to do a review if you were showing a declining trend?

MR. KILFOIL:  Correct.  And by "declining," in this case we are talking about an increase in the number of outages.

MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  It triggers a review, but not necessarily corrective action; is that right?

MR. KILFOIL:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So the review would tell --


MR. KILFOIL:  For example, if we discovered hypothetically that all three of these outages were triggered by Hydro One's problems on their side of the point of common coupling, then we would be talking to Hydro One.  And if they just simply said:  Oh, based on our review there is nothing that needs to be done; this is a bunch of isolated -- or what have you, there is no remedial action to be taken, then that's the end of the investigation.

However, if we discovered these three outages were caused by –- I'm sorry.

Yes, that would be the end of that review.  However, if during that investigation we discovered there were problems within our system that were perhaps predictive in nature and not one-time events, then yes, we would look at taking remedial action.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand.  Okay.  Thank you very much, gentlemen.  Those are my questions.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Redirect?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have none, thank you.

MS. FRY:  You have none?  Well, gentlemen in the panel, thank you very much.  You are excused.
Procedural Matters:


Okay.  So the last thing we need to do is set a schedule for written argument.  Of course the sooner we get the written argument, the sooner the applicant will get a decision.  So how soon could the applicant file its written argument?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think there has been some discussion already.  I believe we agreed that we would be able to produce our argument by next Friday.

MS. FRY:  Next Friday?  So that would be Friday the 20th of March?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.  So basically an outline of the application as it stands.  Plus if we can anticipate some of the issues that have arisen, we will try to give a preliminary position for Board Staff to work off of.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Friday the 20th of March.

Board Staff, when were you --


MR. MILLAR:  We were suggesting the following Monday, as in a week plus -- March 30th.

MS. FRY:  March the 30th.  Okay.  And reply argument hopefully will only take a few days, recognizing that it does take a certain amount of time to produce a Board decision and you are looking for an early decision.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Right.  I am just looking at the schedule there and we have got the following Friday, so the 10th.

MS. FRY:  Friday, April the 10th.

MR. MILLAR:  Is that Good Friday, Mr. Buonaguro?

MR. BUONAGURO:  No, that's the week after.  That's part of the problem is that there's an Easter weekend in between your --


MS. FRY:  You are looking for a decision by May the 1st.

MS. HARE:  Not happening.

MS. FRY:  That is very tight.  Not happening.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I am in the Board's hands.  I am just looking at timing.

MS. FRY:  I am in your hands.  I am not going to tell you to file argument before you consider it would be ready, but, you know, in the interests of getting as early as possible a Board decision, I would urge you to see if you can tighten up any of those time frames, counsel, collectively.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Since there is only Board Staff and the company and no intervenors, I mean, if we get Board Staff's argument on the 30th and we know we can turn it around in three days, that is what we are going to do, you know.  We need an end date to -- the last date to do our argument and I would suggest we can leave it at the 10th, but obviously if we can get it in earlier, we would.

The only question is whether we would want to do the same for the whole schedule.  Like, if we find we're at Wednesday next week and we can do it because we have the undertakings fulfilled, and having reviewed what has gone on today, if we can generate quicker we will do it.

And then presumably that would move up everybody's schedule.  We can do it in terms of time frames.

MS. FRY:  Time frames.  Okay.  So, Board Staff, how many -- I am in your hands if we use calendar days or working days.  How many days after the filing of argument in-chief would you be able to file your argument?

MR. MILLAR:  Six working days.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  Plus six working days.  And how many working days after that for reply argument?

MR. BUONAGURO:  I have to point out that is longer than what he had originally.  I think so.

MR. MILLAR:  Those weren't working days.

MR. BUONAGURO:  That was seven non-working days.

MS. FRY:  Yes.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I was going to have ours done by the 20th, and then you wanted the following Monday, which was five -- no, it is six.  My apologies.  It is the same.  I forgot that you had taken the weekend there.

If they do six days after us, and then we are going to try to do seven working days after that.  But if we are faster, we are faster.

MS. FRY:  You really need seven working days for reply argument?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I personally am somewhat new on the case so I don't want to prejudice myself.

MS. FRY:  Like I say --


MR. BUONAGURO:  Obviously it is to our advantage to get it in earlier, and nobody is replying to us.

MS. FRY:  It is certainly is, because on the time frames that you are giving me, I never say never, but I would say it's unlikely that you would have your decision by May the 1st.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Fair enough.

MS. FRY:  When you're hoping to have it.  So what I have here is, just to reiterate, I have a maximum time of Thursday -– whoops.  I have the wrong thing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  I think it's 20th or earlier.

MS. FRY:  Yes, sorry.  The 20th of March for argument in-chief.  Six working days after that is Board Staff argument.  Seven working days after that, applicant's reply argument, and –-

MR. BUONAGURO:  We are all working to do faster than that.

MS. FRY:  Everybody is hoping to file as early as possible.  Does that make sense, counsel?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes.

MS. FRY:  Okay.  So thank you very much, everybody.  Thank you, panel.  And that completes today's hearing.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.
--- Whereupon the hearing concluded at 2:12 p.m.
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